1345

# Integrating animal behaviour into research on multiple environmental stressors: a conceptual framework

Laura K. Lopez<sup>1,2†,\*</sup>, Michael A. Gil<sup>1,3†,\*</sup>, Philip H. Crowley<sup>4</sup>, Pete C. Trimmer<sup>1,5</sup>, Amelia Munson<sup>1</sup>, Isaac Y. Ligocki<sup>6,7</sup>, Marcus Michelangeli<sup>1,8</sup>, and Andrew Sih<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Environmental Science & Policy, University of California, 2132 Wickson Hall, One Shields Avenue, Davis, CA 95616, USA

<sup>2</sup>National Centre for Immunisation Research and Surveillance, Kids Research, Sydney Children's Hospitals Network, Corner Hawkesbury Road & Hainsworth Street, Westmead, New South Wales 2145, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Colorado, Ramaley N122/Campus Box 334, Boulder, CO 80309-0334, USA

<sup>6</sup>Department of Biology, Millersville University of Pennsylvania, Roddy Science Hall, PO Box 1002, Millersville, PA 17551, USA

<sup>7</sup>Department of Evolution, Ecology, and Organismal Biology, Ohio State University, 318 W. 12th Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

<sup>8</sup>Department of Wildlife, Fish & Environmental Studies, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Skogsmarksgränd, Umeå SE-907 36, Sweden

#### ABSTRACT

While a large body of research has focused on the physiological effects of multiple environmental stressors, how behavioural and life-history plasticity mediate multiple-stressor effects remains underexplored. Behavioural plasticity can not only drive organism-level responses to stressors directly but can also mediate physiological responses. Here, we provide a conceptual framework incorporating four fundamental trade-offs that explicitly link animal behaviour to life-history-based pathways for energy allocation, shaping the impact of multiple stressors on fitness. We first address how small-scale behavioural changes can either mediate or drive conflicts between the effects of multiple stressors and alternative physiological responses. We then discuss how animal behaviour gives rise to three additional understudied and interrelated trade-offs: balancing the benefits and risks of obtaining the energy needed to cope with stressors, allocation of energy between life-history traits and stressor responses, and larger-scale escape from stressors in space or time *via* large-scale movement or dormancy. Finally, we outline how these trade-offs interactively affect fitness and qualitative ecological outcomes resulting from multiple stressors. Our framework suggests that explicitly considering animal behaviour should enrich our mechanistic understanding of stressor effects, help explain extensive context dependence observed in these effects, and highlight promising avenues for future empirical and theoretical research.

*Key words*: climate change, HIREC, predator–prey dynamics, chemical pollution, animal behaviour, animal movement, environmental change, phenotypic plasticity, trade-off, anthropogenic.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 1346
II.	Classification of multiple-stressor combinations	. 1348
III.	Animal behaviour can redefine 'multiple stressors'	. 1348
	(1) Multiple cues drive behavioural responses to multiple stressors	.1350

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of Biology, University of Kentucky, 195 Huguelet Drive, 101 Thomas Hunt Morgan Building, Lexington, KY 40506-0225, USA <sup>5</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Warwick, University Road, Coventry, CV4 7AL, UK

<sup>\*</sup> Authors for correspondence: L.K. Lopez (Tel.: +61498820048; E-mail: lakalo241@gmail.com) and M.A. Gil (Tel.: +18323776445; E-mail: mikegil@sciall.org).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Equal first authors.

IV.	Trade-offs under multiple stressors	. 1350
	(1) Trade-off 1: small-scale energetic and behavioural trade-offs	.1350
	(2) Trade-off 2: the energy acquisition trade-off – balancing the needs and costs of obtaining energy	.1352
	(3) Trade-off 3: energy allocation between stressors and life-history traits	.1353
	(4) Trade-off 4: larger-scale spatial or temporal escape from stressors	.1355
	(5) Interactions among trade-offs	.1356
V.	Behaviour and stressor effects on communities	. 1356
VI.	Future directions	. 1359
VII.	Conclusions	. 1359
VIII.	Acknowledgements	. 1360
IX.	Author contributions	. 1360
Х.	References	. 1360

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Physiologists and ecologists have long studied environmental stressors, which we define broadly as abiotic (e.g. chemical pollutant, low oxygen, ocean acidification, temperature) or biotic factors (e.g. disease, predation risk, food scarcity) that negatively affect individual fitness or the growth, abundance or persistence of a population or community (Boone et al., 2007; Pincebourde et al., 2012; Killen et al., 2013) (see Table 1 for definitions of key terms). Importantly, stressors rarely act in isolation, stimulating a recent focus on multiple stressors and their potential for synergistic impacts (Przesławski, Byrne & Mellin, 2015; Cote, Darling & Brown, 2016; Cambronero et al., 2018; Petitjean et al., 2019). Despite this effort, Orr et al. (2020, p. 8) concluded that when it comes to addressing the effects of stressor combinations, 'over the past 20 years [...] very few, if any, general patterns have emerged from meta-analyses'. Our thesis is that a clear theoretical understanding of behavioural and life-history plasticity in response to multiple stressors can facilitate a more mechanistic understanding of stressor effects, including generalities regarding their context dependence and how they manifest in the wild. At a broad level, we build on Arnold's (1983) conceptual framework linking traits (here, behavioural and life-history plasticity) to fitness via effects of traits on performance in fitness-related tasks.

Conceptual models of how organisms respond physiologically to environmental variation [e.g. the Allostatic Load Model (McEwen & Wingfield, 2003; Wingfield, 2013) and Reactive Scope Model (Romero, Dickens & Cvr, 2009)] provide frameworks for understanding how stressors affect fitness (or performance). Dynamic energy budget models (Kooijman, 2009) have also been used in combination with oxygen- and capacity-limited thermal tolerance models (Pörtner, 2010) to create a framework that uses key parameters of energy balance (e.g. aerobic scope) to integrate the effects of multiple stressors and predict the consequences of exposure to stressors (Sokolova et al., 2012). These effects are expressed through physiological mediators, both within a range that does not reduce fitness (the reactive scope/'pejus range') and in scenarios that push organisms into an overload that reduces survival (the 'pessimum range') (Sokolova et al., 2012; Sokolova, 2013).

Behaviour (e.g. feeding, locomotion, aggression, fleeing, vigilance, and migration; see Table 1 in Romero *et al.*, 2009) plays a role in these general frameworks in mediating

Table 1. Definition of key terms.

Additive effect	The combined effect of stressors is equal to the sum of each stressor alone (i.e. no statistical interaction).
Antagonistic effect	The combined effect of stressors is less than what would be predicted under an additive model.
Cross- susceptibility	Where the physiological response to/effect of one stressor increases the susceptibility to another stressor.
Cross-tolerance	Where the physiological response to/effect of one stressor increases the tolerance to another stressor
Co-tolerance	Arises when species display correlated
	tolerances to multiple stressors at the
	community level (negative co-tolerance when tolerances are not correlated).
Cue	Sensory information in the environment that
	indicates the presence or strength of a particular stressor.
Direct stressor effect	The effect of a stressor on an organism's physiology, behaviour and life-history traits.
Escape	A discrete, costly means by which to reduce stressor exposure. Draws energy from a reserve pool.
Escape in time (EIT)	Accomplishes escape by substantially reducing activity, metabolism and energy assimilation.
Escape in space (EIS)	Accomplishes escape by means of dispersal to a new location.
Indirect stressor effect	Stressor effects that arise as a result of organism responses to mitigate the effects of stressors, e.g. including large-scale space use <i>via</i>
DI 1 1 1	migration.
Physiological	A short-term response to one or more stressors
response	involving immediate energy allocation to physiological functions.
Stressor	Any environmental factor that has a negative effect on an organism's fitness through reduced growth, survivorship or reproduction.
Synergistic effect	The combined effect of stressors is greater than what would be predicted under an additive model.

physiological responses, but the integration of physiology and behaviour is not developed in detail.

An alternative physiologically based approach examines specific stressors in detail. For example, thermodynamic niche models have analysed thermal, mass and water balance demand by combining biophysical models that account for microclimatic variation (in space and time) and the organism's morphology, physiology and behavioural repertoire. These include models of multiple nutrient needs (e.g. energy, protein, minerals), dynamic energy budget models (Kooijman, 2009) of overall energy balance and allocation over a lifetime, and biomechanic models of the exchange of heat, mass, and momentum between an organism and its environment (Denny & Helmuth, 2009). These approaches have been used to predict behaviour (e.g. patterns of activity and microhabitat use), physiology, life histories, fitness and even population persistence with climate change (Denny & Gaylord, 2010; Kearney et al., 2013, 2018; Kearney & Porter, 2020). While these models are detailed and comprehensive in many dimensions, their analyses have largely ignored some key behavioural trade-offs (e.g. between predation risk and feeding, growth and mating demands) that have major impacts on energy intake and/or allocation that can feed back to affect behavioural and physiological states and ultimately fitness (Lima, 1998; Peacor *et al.*, 2020; Wirsing *et al.*, 2021).

Here, we propose a conceptual framework that integrates animal behaviour, bioenergetics and life-history trade-offs to identify ways that behaviour and life-history plasticity shape the impacts of stressor exposure on individual fitness (Fig. 1). We draw conceptually from the literature on multiple-predator effects (MPEs). Indeed, we provide a generalised framework in which MPEs are nested but, importantly, can combine and potentially interact with any other biotic or abiotic stressor(s), including those that, unlike predators, do not react to the behaviour of the focal organism. Our framework is outlined in terms of four trade-offs. First, in addition to physiological responses, small-scale behaviours (e.g. incremental shifts in space use or activity schedules) that reduce exposure to one stressor can simultaneously alter an



**Fig. 1.** Conceptual framework. Integrating the behaviour, physiology, and bioenergetics of coping with multiple stressors reveals four fundamental trade-offs. Energy is allocated among key components (thick arrows) leading ultimately to fitness effects; the four key trade-offs are colour-coded. Energy assimilation rate pays the energy cost of basal metabolic rate (BMR), and the remaining net energy gain rate is subdivided into three competing energy sinks (yellow rectangles, trade-off 3). The energy flow into response to stressors powers two types of escape plus tolerance (green rectangles, trade-off 4). Stressor tolerance provides energy for the mechanisms to avoid, when possible, or otherwise to mitigate the stressor effects. These mechanisms may be behavioural or physiological or both (blue rectangles, trade-off 1); they are triggered by the stressors, which they can ameliorate while potentially interacting with each other. Activity creates a trade-off between energy assimilation rate and survival (pink rectangles, trade-off 2). Food availability and risk of predation or other mortality sources, potentially increased by activity, act on these linkages. Survival and growth/reproduction are influenced by the stressors and tolerance mechanisms, jointly yielding fitness. Note that while stressors can directly affect an organism (diagonal arrows below stressors), various indirect stressor effects can also manifest *via* animal behaviour and life-history characteristics (e.g. activity and consequent predation risk can be driven by energetic demands imposed by stressors, ultimately shaping fitness).

organism's vulnerability to the effects of a second stressor, or alter the magnitude of these effects on fitness (Fig. 1, tradeoff 1). Second, because responding physiologically to stressors often requires energy, this can favour increased foraging activity which often increases exposure to additional risks, e.g. predation (trade-off 2). If the organism has obtained the energy it requires, it will then allocate energy between behavioural or physiological stress responses and fitnessenhancing life-history demands (i.e. reproduction and growth; trade-off 3). Trade-offs 2 and 3 emphasise how stressors can reduce fitness indirectly by limiting overall energetic budgets, increasing foraging-related risks or drawing energy away from alternative life-history needs. Finally, at a larger spatial or temporal scale, organisms can respond to stressors by actively escaping exposure through space (e.g. via longer-distance movements) or time (e.g. via dormancy or diapause). Escape in space or time typically incurs other costs (trade-off 4).

Our integrated framework, using energy as the common currency, highlights: (1) that stressor effects can go far beyond direct effects, whereby stressors directly cause physical harm, but can give rise to a suite of indirect effects; e.g. the indirect costs of an abiotic stressor might include increased predation risk or reduced mating success; (2) the fundamental role that scales of spatial and temporal correlations between stressors, resources and other risks can play; and (3) the need to understand mechanisms resulting in 'fitness cliffs' - situations where a relatively small increase in stressor levels results in a large decrease in fitness. In the following sections, we first classify multiple stressor interactions within our framework and briefly describe how animal behaviour can 'redefine' these interactions. We then provide a detailed description of each of the four fundamental and interrelated trade-offs (Fig. 1) in our framework and outline the broad insights they offer.

## II. CLASSIFICATION OF MULTIPLE-STRESSOR COMBINATIONS

Organisms can influence some stressors (that is, modify the strength or presence of the stressor) but not others. For

example, an organism's avoidance behaviours can cause its predators to modify their behaviour (e.g. hunting in different habitats). On the other hand, while ectotherms typically increase their foraging rates to cope with the energetic costs of increased metabolic rates resulting from elevated temperature (Pörtner & Knust, 2007), this behavioural response does not alter the temperature itself. Here, we classify multiple-stressor combinations into three forms (Fig. 2):

AA: the focal organism cannot modify either stressor (i.e. no feedback between the focal organism and the stressors), except *via* avoidance or escape in space or time.

AB: the organism can modify only one stressor (bi-directional feedback between a single stressor and the organism). Notably, here, a responsive biotic stressor (e.g. a predator) can often also be impacted by the non-responsive stressor. (e.g. a chemical contaminant).

BB: The organism can modify both stressors (bi-directional feedbacks between both stressors and the organism – it is within this category that multiple-predator effects reside).

Additionally, the stressors may directly (or indirectly) influence one another; e.g. interactions between predators (e.g. intraguild predation) can determine whether their combined effects on prey are additive, antagonistic or synergistic (also known as independent, risk-reducing or risk-enhancing effects) (Sih, Englund & Wooster, 1998; Schmitz, 2007) (Fig. 2). Stressor interactions and impacts on organisms can hinge on these categories.

## III. ANIMAL BEHAVIOUR CAN REDEFINE 'MULTIPLE STRESSORS'

The concept of 'multiple stressors' traditionally deals with stressors that co-occur in time and space, and, thus, the affected organism is exposed to these stressors simultaneously. However, multiple stressors need not co-occur in time or space or affect a focal organism simultaneously to have interactive, potentially synergistic effects that determine the organism's survival and fitness. A prime driver of



**Fig. 2.** Categories of multiple-stressor combination types according to degrees of feedback between stressors (abiotic, A, and/or biotic, B) and the focal organism. Stressor combination AA shows a combination with no feedback between stressors; for stressor combination AB there is unidirectional feedback and stressor combination BB there is bi-directional feedback [multiple-predator effects (MPEs) are an example of this interaction]. Feedbacks occur when the organism affected by a stressor, in turn, affects that stressor (e.g. a shift in the behaviour of a prey species can affect the behaviour of its potential predator).

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 1345-1364 © 2023 Cambridge Philosophical Society.

such unexpected potential stressor interactions is animal behaviour. By moving across natural landscapes that can exhibit extensive heterogeneity in the spatial distributions of stressors (e.g. involving variation in elevation, moisture, salinity, turbidity, pollution, and natural and exotic predators), animals can determine the suite, relative exposure, sequence, and spatiotemporal overlap of stressors they will face. Thus, stressors separated in time or space or both (Fig. 3) can interact with one another indirectly at the organismal level, akin to analogous species indirect interactions, such as apparent competition (Holt, 1977) and apparent mutualism (Abrams, Holt & Roth, 1998; Rudolf, 2008). Interactive effects of multiple stressors that do not co-occur over space and/or time expand the concept of multiple stressors and are candidate drivers of population declines in natural systems.

Stressors that do not overlap in time can still have nonadditive effects, through physiological changes or due to behavioural responses to the first stressors. Physiological carryover effects of stressors have been observed in many



Fig. 3. Animal behaviour can redefine 'multiple-stressor' scenarios. When effects of stressors carry over into periods of time when the stressors are not present, this allows multiple stressors that do not co-occur in time and/or space nonetheless to have 'co-occurring effects' on mobile organisms. Here, stressor 1 (S1) and stressor 2 (S2) co-occur in time and space (top right), co-occur in space only (top left), co-occur in time only (bottom right), or co-occur neither in time nor space (bottom left). In these latter two scenarios, animal movement and space-use decisions can cause multiple-stressor effects if at least the first stressor experienced has carryover effects. The optimal decision (e.g. be active *versus* inactive, move to an area with one stressor or an area with the other) in each of these scenarios depends on the costs of avoidance in space or time and the relative strengths of stressor effects.

systems. For example, bivalves have decreased immune response following temperature stress, which makes them more susceptible to disease-based stressors (Rahman *et al.*, 2019). Similarly, damselfly larvae previously exposed to food limitation and heat waves suffered considerably lower growth rates and higher mortality when later exposed to an agricultural pesticide (Dinh, Janssens & Stoks, 2016). Indeed, broadly speaking, if a stressor simply causes reduced net energy gain (e.g. *via* a taxing physiological load), this could manifest as a carryover effect that could interact with other stressors down the line. Behavioural carryover effects have also been observed. For instance, tadpoles from high-risk environments are generally more active, which increases survival in response to pursuit predators in the future (Ferrari *et al.*, 2015).

Carryover effects may be particularly pronounced for stressors experienced during development. Experience with a stressor can lead to acclimation via phenotypic (either physiological or behavioural) plasticity such that the effect of experience with that stressor in the future is altered. Indeed, such developmental experience can lead to permanent changes in behaviour or physiology, resulting in improved performance in the presence of the stressor(s) later in life (Dinh et al., 2022; Schnurr, Yin & Scott, 2014). For example, the keystone sea hare species Stylochelius striatus significantly reduced its locomotion speed and rate of correct foraging decisions following exposure to elevated temperature and pCO<sub>2</sub>. While exposure to these stressors during development still resulted in decreased performance in adults, developmental exposure lessened the severity of the impacts, suggesting beneficial phenotypic plasticity (Horwitz et al., 2020).

The carryover effects of developmental exposure to a single stressor on responses to different, future stressors is less well understood despite the potentially impactful changes to organisms as a result of acclimation. For instance, warmacclimated common minnows (*Phoxinus phoxinus*) had larger brains compared to cool-acclimated fish but made more errors in exploring a maze, suggesting that maintaining physiological function under stress can result in cognitive impairments (Zavorka et al., 2020). Developmental stress has been shown to affect a variety of behaviours including foraging (Crino et al., 2014; Chaby et al., 2015), learning (Brust et al., 2014; Kriengwatana et al., 2015), social network position (Boogert, Farine & Spencer, 2014) and the development of behavioural syndromes (Edenbrow & Croft, 2013; Hope et al., 2020) that may interact with the ability to respond to future challenges.

Though far less studied, carryover effects can also manifest not by temporal variation in the stressors themselves but, instead, by temporal variation in spatial patch use by the focal animal. By simply moving through its home range or migrating between distant locations, an animal can be affected by spatially or temporally separate stressors at sufficiently close points in time for interactions to manifest. For example, rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) use shelters to avoid predators; however, when they compete for shelters, they are at an increased risk of contracting trematode parasites from outside habitat patches (Mikheev *et al.*, 2020). Generally, landscape heterogeneity and large home ranges or migration ranges increase the likelihood that stressors that do not co-occur in time or space can, nonetheless, have interactive effects on an animal *via* the sequence of exposure it experiences through its movement decisions (Shepard *et al.*, 2013; Jachowski *et al.*, 2018).

# (1) Multiple cues drive behavioural responses to multiple stressors

Behavioural responses to dangers (e.g. running from predators) are typically elicited by sensory cues relating to that danger (e.g. seeing or hearing a predator). Thus, at a detailed level, it is the *cue* of the danger that really acts as the stressor (in terms of eliciting a response) in trade-offs 1–4, rather than the danger *per se*, although these are sometimes confounded when it comes to automatic physiological responses, because the danger itself can also directly act as the cue (e.g. the physiological response of a fish following an increase in water temperature or salinity). Here, we consider the case of responses to possible predators, where it is the cues that drive responses, rather than the danger directly. This may initially seem very simple; however, unlike the physiological case of heat/salinity, we consider cases where multiple cues are present and no cue is perfectly reliable.

In many cases, action should be taken before an organism is certain of their situation. There are three cases relating to the source of the cues:

(1) A common cause, so one best action. Multiple cues may be produced by a single danger (e.g. a glimpse of a predator, combined with a faint whiff of its scent) (Hale, Piggott & Swearer, 2017) Such cases are relatively simple in that there is typically a single best response to such a danger, and the cues correlate positively with that danger, so the best response also correlates positively with the overall probability given by those cues;

(2) Different causes, but one best action. In some cases, there may be multiple uncertain cues of danger, each of which, alone, does not tell an organism to take evasive action, but together they do. For instance, a vole emerging from its hole may get the faint whiff of a cat (which may not be enough on its own to trigger a response of fleeing back to its hole), and a glimpse of a bird overhead (which alone, may not be sufficiently indicative of an aerial predator). Because the best response to each danger is the same (although the cues come from different sources), they can be combined to govern a stress response of fleeing (or of increasing one's physiological readiness to flee);

(3) Different causes, with different best actions. The more complex case is one where the best response to one danger (e.g. running from a terrestrial predator) conflicts with the best response to another danger (e.g. an aerial predator may be more likely to spot moving prey). In this case, the uncertainties relating to the cues interact with the expected payoffs for each possible action in each situation

(Brilot *et al.*, 2012). This can often mean that an action that is not optimal in either actual situation (terrestrial or aerial danger present) is the best while gathering more information. For instance, it may be best to freeze for a short time while gathering more information, even if climbing a tree would be the best defence against one danger, whilst running back toward one's burrow is best against another danger.

Cases (1) and (2) can usually be represented using simple (one-dimensional) signal detection theory but, in general, the number of dimensions (required for a signal detection approach) increases with the number of possible dangers (even when there are only two possible actions). Thus, signal detection theory provides a robust framework that can be applied systematically to evaluate expectations for behavioural responses to the multiple- (often many)-stressor scenarios that abound in nature.

#### IV. TRADE-OFFS UNDER MULTIPLE STRESSORS

### (1) Trade-off 1: small-scale energetic and behavioural trade-offs

Organisms informed by cues can respond to one or more stressors in various, potentially interactive, ways. Physiologists have rigorously investigated physiological trade-offs – where the physiological portion of an organism's response to stressor X either enhances (cross-tolerance) or interferes with (cross-susceptibility) the physiological portion of its response to stressor Y (Todgham, Schulte & Iwama, 2005; MacMillan, Walsh & Sinclair, 2009; Sinclair *et al.*, 2013; Hintz, Jones & Relyea, 2019). Here, we focus on additional, less-studied behavioural and energetic responses, whereby exposure to stressor X changes either the exposure to or fitness costs of stressor Y.

Many organisms respond to environmental stressors by adjusting their space use or temporal activity patterns (Porter et al., 1973; Stevenson, 1985; Clusella-Trullas & Chown, 2014; Araújo, Moreira-Santos & Ribeiro, 2016; Sears et al., 2016; Gaynor et al., 2018; van der Vinne et al., 2019) to reduce exposure to stressors and, thus mitigate physiological costs. These behavioural responses can occur over small scales, which we refer to as 'avoidance', or large scales, which we refer to as 'escape' (e.g. dispersal, migration or dormancy, trade-off 4, which we discuss in Section IV.4). The small-scale responses that we discuss here differ from larger-scale escape responses in being relatively rapidly reversible and typically requiring lower energy costs. It is important to note that the degree to which small-scale avoidance versus large-scale escape confers a greater fitness advantage could hinge on the presence of feedbacks from stressors to the focal organism (Fig. 2); e.g. the efficacy of prey avoidance or escape will depend on the tendency and ability of multiple predators to track prey actively in space or time.

Behavioural responses can interact with physiological responses to determine not only the net effect of a stressor

on an organism, but also whether multiple stressors interact antagonistically or synergistically. Put simply, when two stressors require conflicting adaptive behavioural responses, i.e. where the response to either stressor increases exposure to the other, the negative impact of the stressor pair can be enhanced. For example, rising water temperatures can increase the exposure of fish to chemical pollutants by increasing activity and consumption of contaminated prey (Brodin et al., 2014; Saaristo et al., 2018). A core concept from standard behavioural ecology trade-off theory (Houston & McNamara, 1999) suggests that a key factor is the degree to which multiple stressors are positively versus negatively correlated in space or time (Gunderson, Armstrong & Stillman, 2016; Rozen-Rechels et al., 2019) (see Section III for further discussion of these correlations). If stressors are positively correlated (e.g. if the same locations have high levels of both stressors, while other locations have low levels of both), then avoidance of one tends also to reduce exposure to the other; if the stressors are negatively correlated (e.g. places with high levels of one stressor have low levels of the other), then organisms face the trade-off where avoidance of one could increase exposure to the other. For example, salamander larvae avoid exposure to damaging ultraviolet radiation by moving to deeper water, but doing so exposes them to higher predation risk from fish (Garcia, Stacy & Sih, 2004).

Invoking parallel theory on avoidance of multiple predators (Lima, 1992; Matsuda, Hori & Abrams, 1996; Sih et al., 1998), we can predict how organisms should respond behaviourally to multiple stressors. If avoidance of one stressor increases exposure to the other, then organisms should weight avoidance of the more detrimental stressor(s) more heavily. This weighting could depend on both the level and inherent lethality of the stressors, or on how earlier experience (or evolution) has shaped the organism's relative abilities to cope with the two stressors physiologically. If both stressors can strongly reduce fitness, and if behavioural avoidance itself incurs a high cost (e.g. restriction to low-quality habitat), then organisms should not attempt small-scale avoidance. Instead, they should cope with the stressors via physiological responses (if feasible), or escape in space or time (if energetically affordable; trade-off 4).

Further complexities arise depending, for example, on the spatial scale of heterogeneity in stressor distributions relative to the organism's movement capacity (Sears et al., 2016; Schmitz et al., 2017; Fey et al., 2019). Although numerous studies have examined behavioural avoidance of one stressor, there is a need for a better understanding of factors that explain when and why multiple stressors are negatively versus positively correlated. In some cases, clear mechanisms underlie a correlation between stressors. For example, in terrestrial systems, heat stress and water loss are correlated physiologically through evaporation, which depends on wind speed, humidity and air temperature (Mitchell et al., 2018; Rozen-Rechels et al., 2019; Kearney & Porter, 2020). Stress associated with hot, dry conditions can then be correlated spatially via landscape structure and microhabitat variation (e.g. vegetation, shade; Sears et al., 2016). In coastal marine

systems, seasonal upwelling brings up cold, low-oxygen, high  $CO_2$  waters, thus generating a temporal correlation between ocean acidification and hypoxia (Davis *et al.*, 2018; Chan *et al.*, 2019).

In other cases, spatiotemporal correlations between stressors are less clear, but could be deduced from known stressor-organism relationships. For prey, the relationship between predation risk and various abiotic stressors likely depends on whether focal prey or their predators are more susceptible to those abiotic stressors (Ferrari *et al.*, 2011; Kroeker et al., 2014). If predators are more negatively affected than prey by an abiotic stressor, then situations with high abiotic stress can be 'safe sites' for prey (Relyea, Schoeppner & Hoverman, 2005). For example, predation rates of northern pike (Esox lucius) upon brown trout (Salmo trutta) fell drastically when exposed to temperatures below 11 °C. Below this thermal threshold the maximum attack speed of the predator decreased while the prey's swimming speed was less affected (Ohlund et al., 2015). This is a version of the 'enemy of my enemy is my friend' effect that is well studied in systems where prey do better in, and in some cases, prefer places where top predators (including humans) reduce risk from intermediate predators (Berger, 2007; Bestion et al., 2015; Suraci et al., 2019; Culshaw-Maurer, Sih & Rosenheim, 2020).

Importantly, when stressors are commonly correlated for systematic reasons, organisms can evolve or learn to account for that correlation in their behavioural and/or physiological response. By contrast, if the correlations vary unpredictably, a lack of reliable information can constrain the animal's ability to balance needs adaptively to avoid the different stressors. This is an example of the general point that cue reliability and how cues interact can have major effects on whether and how organisms respond (with changes in behaviour and/or physiology), and the effectiveness of their responses [(Trimmer *et al.*, 2017), see also Section III.1]. Overall, more studies are needed to examine how organisms respond behaviourally to conflicting (e.g. negatively correlated) stressors, particularly in the broader context of additional layers of trade-offs.

An alternative mechanism that results in trade-offs arises when increased energy devoted to coping physiologically with stressors results in accelerating fitness costs, whereby fitness costs increase non-linearly with greater stressor levels. The mechanism could involve increased stressor levels pushing organisms into homeostatic or allostatic overload (McEwen & Wingfield, 2003; Romero et al., 2009), such that allocating energy to coping with any one stressor suddenly strains the organism's ability to cope with other stressors. Additionally, as a pathway to the other major trade-offs (Fig. 1), increased fitness costs could arise *via* increased mortality risk associated with acquiring energy (trade-off 2), or via an energy allocation trade-off that reduces growth or reproduction (trade-off 3). Each of these mechanisms could result in 'fitness cliffs', or strong non-linearities (steep thresholds in effect size) that can cause even a small change (in this case, an increase in the level of a stressor) to reduce fitness disproportionately. For example, Delnat, Janssens & Stoks (2019) exposed mosquito larvae to warming (20 °C versus 24 °C) and three different concentrations of the pesticide chlorpyrifos. The synergistic impact of these stressors on survival depended on chlorpyrifos concentration; survival was drastically decreased following exposure to warming and 0.44  $\mu$ g/l chlorpyrifos but not 0.37  $\mu$ g/l chlorpyrifos.

### (2) Trade-off 2: the energy acquisition trade-off – balancing the needs and costs of obtaining energy

To deal with stress, organisms require more energy to fuel metabolism, maintain homeostasis, and mount direct physiological responses to stressors (Romero *et al.*, 2009). Although these costs are not always well understood (but see Feder & Burggren, 1992), balancing the needs and costs of obtaining energy and, in particular, the costs in terms of predation risk, is a core issue in behavioural ecology. Extensive theory and numerous empirical studies (Sih, 1987; Lima, 1998; Brown, 1999; Houston & McNamara, 1999) provide insights that we draw on to understand energy acquisition trade-offs associated with responding to environmental stressors.

Most fundamentally, when physiological responses to stressors increase energy demands, the ability to meet those demands depends on food availability. When organisms have regular access to food and thus energy, the negative effects of stressors on organismal performance are typically weakened and, in some cases, entirely negated (Hettinger et al., 2013; Mayor et al., 2015; Tosi et al., 2017). Honeybees, for instance, are not significantly impaired by neonicotinoid pesticides if they are not faced with nutritional stress (Tosi et al., 2017). Consequently, laboratory experiments that provide organisms with ad libitum and/or high food levels might underestimate multiple-stressor impacts in nature, where animals may often be food-limited (Martin, 1995; McCue, 2010). In some cases, environmental stressors further exacerbate low food availability if stressor-induced higher energy demands cause consumers to deplete available resources more rapidly, or because the stressors themselves directly lower resource production and availability (Van der Putten, Macel & Visser, 2010; Bruder et al., 2017). When resources are low or there is heightened competition, acquiring energy becomes more energetically demanding.

Importantly, the increased energy demands associated with coping with stressors can require organisms to adopt riskier behaviours (e.g. higher activity, longer foraging bouts, increased time spent in patches with high food but high risk) (Lima, 1998; Lienart *et al.*, 2014; Goldenberg *et al.*, 2018). Although organisms can partially counteract predation risk and buffer possible stressor synergisms by adopting additional vigilance, or social foraging strategies (Killen *et al.*, 2016), ultimately, under natural conditions, the need to cope with stressors physiologically, which requires increased energy intake, might often entail exposure to higher predation risk. Alternatively, because animals often respond to high predation risk by exhibiting antipredator behaviours that reduce energy intake, this can constrain the ability of organisms to build and maintain the capacity to cope with stressors physiologically. For example, when faced with perceived predation risk, Iberian rock lizards, *Lacerta monticola*, face a trade-off over how long to 'pay' the thermal costs of remaining in a relatively cool refuge *versus* emerging (Martín & López, 1999).

In the context of the classic risk-reward foraging trade-off, a key understudied topic is the spatial or temporal correlations among stressors, food levels and predation risk. Even if stressors are uncorrelated with food and predation risk, the need to acquire more energy to cope with stressors physiologically can require increased exposure to predation risk. Thus, stressor exposure and predation risk can become indirectly correlated through the organism's behaviour (see analogous phenomenon concerning behaviourally mediated stressor 'co-occurrence' in Section III and Fig. 3). If avoiding stressors in space and time causes organisms to be more active in places or times when predation risk is particularly high, the cost of multiple stressors can be amplified. To date, few studies have quantified these spatiotemporal correlations and how organisms might balance them adaptively (or not). Predation risk alone can induce physiological stress responses in prey, including elevated stress hormones and metabolic rate (Clinchy, Sheriff & Zanette, 2013), and altered stoichiometry (Rinehart & Hawlena, 2020). Although a metaanalysis found that the presence of a second stressor (most commonly food limitation or elevated temperature) did not generally influence prey stoichiometry beyond effects of predation risk, this result came from relatively few studies that varied considerably in observed effects (Rinehart & Hawlena, 2020).

In some cases, stressors interfere with an organism's sensory system and ability to detect and avoid predators, leading to synergistic negative interactions between the stressor and background predation risk (Reeves *et al.*, 2010; Hayden *et al.*, 2015; Polo-Cavia, Burraco & Gomez-Mestre, 2016; Sievers *et al.*, 2018). For example, metal and pesticide contaminants indirectly increase mortality in frogs because these contaminants can compromise predator-recognition systems and avoidance behaviours leading to higher predator attack rates and inflicted injuries (Reeves *et al.*, 2010; Hayden *et al.*, 2015).

If physiological stressors, foraging activity, and predation risk pose conflicting demands, the costs of stressors can then involve a mix of direct costs, where the stressors themselves cause harm (e.g. allostatic overload resulting in reduced fitness), and indirect costs (e.g. exacerbated hunger, higher predation risk) associated with the need to obtain energy to fuel physiological responses, as well as the costs of mounting a defence. Disentangling the relative importance of direct and indirect costs on organisms will likely require an integrative approach that couples measurements of bioenergetic responses at the individual and cellular level, life-history traits and key behaviours. In principle, data on how exposure to stressors reduces net energy budgets *via* reduced energy inputs and reserves and increased consumption rates provides a quantitative window into these alternative

components of indirect costs of these stressors. For example, recent studies into the effects of warming and pesticides on aquatic insects have demonstrated the value of measuring cellular energy allocation – an estimation of an organism's net energy budget derived from measures of available energy reserves (protein, sugar and fat) and energy consumption (based on activity of the electron transport system) - that has been shown to correlate positively with organism growth rate (Van Dievel, Janssens & Stoks, 2019; Verheyen & Stoks, 2020; Meng et al., 2022). Meng et al. (2022) showed that exposure to acute periods of warming and chlorpyrifos (a pesticide) increased mortality in mosquito larvae (Culex *pipiens molestus*). Acute warming resulted in lower energy availability, which reduced the net energy budget for physiological coping mechanisms for detoxifying chlorpyrifos [i.e. heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) and the enzyme cytochrome P450 monooxygenase (Janssens, Dinh & Stocks, 2014)]. Field and mesocosm experiments that manipulate predator presence and food availability, paired with assessments of bioenergetic and behavioural responses, should be useful in understanding when stressors have indirect effects via challenges to energy acquisition and changes in predation risk associated with increased foraging.

Theory on balancing risks and foraging needs offers additional intuitive, qualitative predictions (Brown, 1999; Houston & McNamara, 1999) on when we might expect direct versus indirect costs to be larger. When food availability is high and predation risk is low, animals may not need to be very active to obtain sufficient energy to fuel physiological responses to stressors. As a result, the stressors' direct costs and their indirect costs, in terms of predation risk, should be of similar, relatively small magnitude, so long as direct effects are mitigated via abundant energy (Hettinger et al., 2013; Mayor et al., 2015). By contrast, during food shortages, the activity needed to acquire sufficient energy to fuel physiological responses to stressors may lead to higher exposure to predation risk. The main cost of the stressors might then be indirect; that is, increased predation risk and not direct damage or mortality from the stressors per se. Notably, most indirect costs are not addressed in standard laboratory experiments, where focal organisms are typically not exposed to predation. On the other hand, if increased activity causes a sharp, accelerating increase in predation risk, then this can constrain activity (and energy intake) to be relatively low for safety, and thus constrain investment in physiological responses, resulting in greater direct costs of stressors. These intuitive qualitative predictions on stressor-foraging risk trade-offs remain to be rigorously explored with quantitative models and empirical experiments in the laboratory and the field.

#### (3) Trade-off 3: energy allocation between stressors and life-history traits

Stressors not only directly reduce growth and reproduction of organisms [e.g. by disrupting endocrine systems (Rattan & Flaws, 2019) or by shortening telomeres (Chatelain, Drobniak & Szulkin, 2020)], they can also indirectly reduce fitness by demanding energy that could otherwise be allocated to growth and reproduction (Rohr *et al.*, 2004; Pörtner & Knust, 2007; Correa-Araneda *et al.*, 2017). While in most cases, studies have not quantified how much the physiological impacts of stressors increase energy demands, work on the energetic costs of mounting immune responses suggests that this effect depends on context but can be substantial (Bonneaud *et al.*, 2003).

To predict how much organisms should invest adaptively in physiological mechanisms to cope with stressors, despite the accompanying trade-off of reduced growth or reproduction, we draw on a fundamental tenet of basic life-history theory: that adaptive allocation to competing demands depends on the marginal benefits versus costs of additional investment in each demand (Roff, 2002). Non-linearities involving accelerating costs or benefits of increased investment can also produce the aforementioned fitness cliffs (threshold effects), where even a small reduction in investment in a given demand results in a large decrease in fitness. Life-history studies suggest that, although there are exceptions, these non-linearities are often associated with strong competition, or size/condition-dependent safety (Einum & Fleming, 1999; Luttbeg & Sih, 2010). Being near such a threshold could constrain organisms to allocate sufficient energy to a given demand to prevent falling over a fitness cliff. We next discuss some implications of this basic concept for how organisms might allocate energy to physiological responses to stressors versus competing life-history demands.

When energetic requirements for competing demands (e.g. for growth, reproduction, or other survival needs beyond coping with the focal stressors) are close to a fitness cliff, multiple stressors can have synergistic negative impacts through the combined energetic loads they place on an organism. In other words, through the lens of life-history theory, stressors need not interact directly to drive strong synergistic effects on the organism. Instead, these effects can manifest through the combined effects of independent stressors on energy demands when organisms are close to an energetic threshold (e.g. a starvation threshold).

When physiological demands of stressors and life-history demands are both near fitness cliffs, the need to divert energy to cope with stressors is particularly likely to produce strong indirect, negative impacts on fitness through reduced growth, development or reproduction. Life-history stages that suffer higher marginal costs of reduced energy investment should be particularly vulnerable to suffering indirect costs of physiological demands of stressors. Life stages vary in their vulnerability to different combinations of stressors, and this varies across taxa (Stoks, 2001; Rohr, Sesterhenn & Stieha, 2011; Przesławski et al., 2015; Watson et al., 2018; Dahlke et al., 2020; Tran et al., 2020). Yet, for many taxa, when juveniles divert energy to dealing with multiple stressors rather than development, this results in particularly strong negative effects, involving both increased sublethal effects and higher mortality (Byrne & Przeslawski, 2013; Przeslawski

et al., 2015; Lange et al., 2018; Byrne et al., 2020; Miler, Stec & Czarnoleski, 2020). For example, echinoderm larvae can show elevated mortality, impaired development and signs of metabolic depression following exposure to heightened temperature and  $CO_2$  partial pressure ( $pCO_2$ ) (Byrne & Przesławski, 2013; Przesławski et al., 2015). Negative effects of multiple stressors on juvenile stages may be ameliorated by increased energy uptake. For example, larvae of the barnacle Balanus amphitrite significantly increased their feeding rate under hypoxia and ocean acidification, and had similar survival and settlement rates to larvae exposed to each stressor individually or to no stressors at all (Campanati et al., 2016). Nevertheless, costs of reduced growth and development can be particularly strong in systems with seasonal time horizons, where growing to a threshold size or stage or accumulating sufficient energy reserves in a given time period is crucial for survival (e.g. for migration, overwintering or metamorphosis when ephemeral habitats disappear). For some taxa, tolerance to stressors can increase with age as energy reserves are built and physiological regulatory mechanisms develop (Pörtner, Lagenbuch & Reipschläger, 2004; Vetter, Franke & Bulchholz, 1999). However, the high vulnerability of certain life cycle stages to multiple stressors may represent a 'weak link' and have significant repercussions on population dynamics, even if adult life stages experience lower mortality and impairment than juveniles (Russell et al., 2012).

Similarly, when reproduction requires an abundance of energy, females can suffer higher costs of coping with stressors during reproductive periods than during nonreproductive periods. French, DeNardo & Moore (2007) experimentally manipulated reproductive investment in female tree lizards (Urosaurus ornatus) by stimulating vitellogenesis and found that lizards that had higher reproductive investment also had suppressed immune systems when resources were limited. In particular, if offspring fitness is a strongly non-linear (e.g. sigmoidal) function of female parental investment, this can cause females to invest more into reproduction and less into coping with stressors, thus yielding larger direct costs of stressors. Alternatively, animals exposed to stress sometimes reduce their investment per offspring (Rasanen et al., 2008; Freuchet, Flores & Tremblay, 2015). If this substantially reduces average offspring survival (e.g. if offspring survival falls over a fitness cliff), then adult exposure to stressors can result in a large indirect cost in terms of both offspring and adult fitness. For example, Daphnia pulicaria adults exposed to the pesticide carbaryl and toxic cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa produced significantly fewer eggs and more frequent premature delivery of offspring (Cerbin et al., 2010). Additionally, more body deformations were observed in offspring whose mothers had been exposed to both stressors (Cerbin et al., 2010).

For males, mating success often depends heavily on possessing either large relative size or ornaments (Andersson, 1994); in these cases, males can suffer a fitness cliff where reduced investment in sexually selected traits can result in little or no mating success (e.g. *via* reduced apparency to females and/or reduced competitiveness with other males). Strong sexual selection could then favour males diverting their limited energy into sexually selected traits, even at the cost of reduced investment in physiological responses to stressors. Such scenarios would result in a strong direct cost (e.g. mortality due to the stressors) of exposure to stressors. In a study of 28 species of North American passerine birds, male (but not female) mortality was related to sexual size dimorphism and female (but not male) mortality was negatively correlated with male brightness, which suggests that sexually selected traits are costly and constrained by the background mortality costs of other stressors (Promislow, Montgomerie & Martin, 1992). In mammals, the relationship between male-biased mortality and sexual size dimorphism was found to be partially due to male-biased parasitism rates (Moore & Wilson, 2002). Investing in sexually selected traits, like increased size, may thus make males more vulnerable to other stressors (i.e. parasites). Alternatively, if some sites have abundant food but high risk, sexual selection can favour taking greater risks (e.g. increasing exposure to predators, aggressive competitors, or other stressors) to bring in the energy required to invest in both ornaments and in physiological responses to stressors to maintain condition.

Trade-off 3 – balancing investment in stressor response, life-history traits, and activity level - derives from a simplified application of Dynamic Energy Budget (DEB) theory. DEB theory is a powerful, metabolically based framework widely used to account for environmental effects at the sub-individual, individual, population, and higher levels of organisation (Sousa et al., 2010). Flows and pools of energy and nutrients are expressed as differential equations and state variables, based on empirically quantifiable parameters, resulting in predictions about components of metabolism and the structures and life-history components they generate. DEB models have been used extensively across levels of organisation (Nisbet et al., 2000). At the individual level, a considerable amount of work has addressed stressors such as toxicological effects (Kooijman, 1993; Jager & Klok, 2010) and reactive oxygen species (van Leeuwen, Vera & Wolkenhauer, 2010). At the population level, the standard DEB model has been modified to capture taxon-specific effects like size dependence of required food quality (Kearney et al., 2010), maturity-dependent survival (Nisbet, McCauley & Johnson, 2010), and moulting in crustaceans (Talbot et al., 2019). That these models can be readily modified for particular taxa and allow for variation in time and space (Monaco & McQuaid, 2018), greatly extends their applicability. In particular, simplifications of model structure are often utilised to capture appropriate temporal and spatial scales (Sousa et al., 2010), which largely accounts for our Fig. 1 as a simplified derivative of the DEB framework. Consistent with DEB but following our own trade-off-based approach, we incorporate the key energy flows, state variables, and causal links important for understanding how stressor effects influence life-history effects and fitness.

Although DEB models are useful in predicting responses to multiple stressors, it is not always feasible to use them as

they require extensive parameterization. Sokolova (2013) proposed a framework that integrates the logic of DEB models with oxygen- and capacity-limited thermal tolerance models (Pörtner, 2002) in order to assess the effects of multiple stressors rapidly on a range of species. The logic of these models is fundamental to our trade-off 3; in unstressed situations, the aerobic scope can supply enough ATP to meet the demands of maintenance, activity, growth, reproduction, and storage. Under moderate stress, or the 'pejus range', either the cost of maintenance increases or the aerobic scope decreases such that there is a reduction in energy allocated towards tasks beyond maintenance. With increasing stress, the animal enters the 'pessimum range' where no energy is allocated towards growth, reproduction, or storage and anaerobic respiration is required to supplement the needs of maintenance (Sokolova, 2013). While these models are an important bridge between physiology and whole-animal ecology and species distributions that acknowledge the importance of behaviour (Sokolova et al., 2012), we argue that they do not go far enough to integrate behaviour into our understanding of an animal's responses to multiple stressors both in terms of small-scale changes in behaviour (trade-off 1) and foraging (trade-off 2) that influence the stressor exposure. After all, while these models have been used to predict species distributions based on environmental tolerances (Sokolova, 2013), behaviour has been shown to be an important response to environmental extremes (Sunday et al., 2014).

### (4) Trade-off 4: larger-scale spatial or temporal escape from stressors

As an alternative to coping with the suite of stressors an organism faces locally and immediately (the direct and indirect effects discussed in Sections IV.1–3 on trade-offs 1–3), some organisms can escape environmental stressors in space or time through long-distance dispersal or migration or some form of substantial, relatively long-term reduction in metabolic demands. Escape in space (EIS) involves an organism, temporarily or permanently, relocating to a new environment and undergoing the costs to do so. The option of EIS is largely limited to mobile species, and the potential for animals to evade stressors via EIS draws a clear dichotomy between animal and plant responses to stress (Bradshaw, 1972; Huey et al., 2002). Sessile animals and plants may have the ability to make small-scale spatial adjustments in response to stress (e.g. plants growing towards light), but ultimately these organisms are likely to emphasise stress-resistant physiological responses (e.g. enhanced tolerance capacity) or escape in time (e.g. changes in phenology; see below) due to constraints on their mobility (Huey et al., 2002; Ponge, 2020). Seasonal migration, exhibited by various mammals, birds, and insects, is a common, cyclical form of temporary EIS, often tracking predictable large-scale variations in weather patterns and food availability (Dingle, 2014; Merkle et al., 2016). EIS can also be triggered by anthropogenic environmental stressors (Berg et al., 2010). For example, the onset

of human hunting, rather than the onset of severe weather (e.g. snowfall), was a primary driver of autumn migration by red deer (Rivrud *et al.*, 2016). EIS has also been observed in non-migratory butterfly species that have moved over vast areas of habitat made unsuitable by anthropogenic climate change to occupy new locations in Europe (Parmesan *et al.*, 1999).

Escape in time (EIT) involves reducing exposure and precluding the costs of tolerance, avoidance, or migration by, instead, entering into torpor (Humphries, Thomas & Kramer, 2003; Geiser, 2004), dormancy [including hibernation or aestivation (Danks, 2000); diapause (a special case of dormancy based on suspended development; Chapman, 1998); or resting stages (Smirnov, 2014)]. EIT is commonly used by animals to address extreme temperatures, drying conditions, and a limited food supply (Levins, 1969; Porter et al., 1973; Thomas, Dorais & Bergeron, 1990; Danks, 2000; Goto et al., 2001; Sarmaja-Korjonen, 2003; Hairston Jr. & Fox, 2009) but can leave inanimate individuals vulnerable to other dangers (Cowles, 1941). In the Sokolova (2021) framework, when an animal enters the pessimum range of extreme stress such that aerobic respiration cannot meet the needs of maintenance metabolic rates, it can begin anaerobic respiration or reduce its metabolic needs and enter a period of metabolic rate depression.

Theory on the evolution of adaptive dispersal and migration and/or dormancy provides insights regarding factors that influence when organisms should attempt to escape in space or time (Levin, Cohen & Hastings, 1984; Snyder, 2006; Bonte & de la Pena, 2009; Bonte & Dahirel, 2017). Whether large-scale dispersal or migration, or dormancy is adaptive depends on the expected net fitness payoff, which depends on how organisms handle trade-offs 1-3 (Fig. 1) in both the current environment, and in alternative environments, as well as costs of escape in space or time (including mortality and the need for a substantial front-end investment in energy stores that increases escape success, see below). Both large-scale movement and dormancy can involve substantial uncertainty about expected fitness. For longdistance movement, there is uncertainty about transit costs (which depend on both cost per unit of distance or time, and distance relative to mobility) and often great uncertainty over likely payoffs in prospective new environments. This might be especially true now, following the unprecedented human-induced rapid environmental change that is shaping natural habitats globally (Crowley et al., 2019; Van de Waal & Litchman, 2020). Importantly, when organisms disperse to a new habitat, they might face a different set of stressors that require a different set of behavioural and physiological responses. Thus, the suitability of a new environment could hinge on the organism's plasticity in behaviour and physiology. The degree of dissimilarity between the suite of dominant stressors in an organism's former environment compared to its new environment can come with distinct costs (e.g. new stressors could require greater energetic investment in establishing appropriate physiological or behavioural responses). Furthermore, if, as is often the case, there

are behavioural or physiological carryovers (i.e. earlier experiences with stressors influence later responses), then EIS can expand the scope of multiple stressors to include stressors that do not co-occur in space or time (see Section III).

The benefit of escaping in time or space to a new environment is proportional to not just the increase in quality in the new environment but also to how long the new environment will remain of higher quality (i.e. the degree of temporal stability). If stressor levels fluctuate frequently or intensely over time, this can dilute the benefits of escape. In short, the key for adaptive escape in space or time is not the spatiotemporal pattern of stressors per se; it is, instead, the spatiotemporal pattern of fitness adjusted for costs of large-scale movement or dormancy. In addition, because escaping to a new environment might also result in greater competition or predation risk [e.g. if competitors or predators make the same escape decision, if range shifts introduce novel competitors (Sinervo et al., 2010), or population demography yields this result], there is a game-theoretic aspect to this dynamic that can further complicate expectations.

Despite the various sources of complexity that can arise when considering whether an organism should stay and cope with stressors or, instead, attempt to escape them, simplified scenarios offer qualitative insights. Generally, we expect that the probability that an organism will attempt to escape stressors should scale with the potential for that escape to be possible. For instance, if stressors are highly localised in space or time, we would expect escape to be more likely, but when stressors are widespread over space or time (i.e. chronic), escape may not be an option. If stressors are widespread in only one dimension (i.e. time or space), we expect a threshold to exist for the other dimension, such that increasing the stressor's (or suite of stressors') presence over this dimension causes the organism eventually to shift from an optimal strategy of escape to one of remaining in the environment, where tolerance or local avoidance are the only options (Fig. 4A). In other words, when stressors occur at large enough scales in space and time, they become infeasible to escape and tolerance and, in some cases, local avoidance, become the only feasible strategies.

If we expand to consider animal behaviour in the context of multiple stressors, the horizon of possibilities quickly becomes more complex. For example, considering only two partially correlated stressors, expressed in time and space relative to the scales of these dimensions experienced by a focal organism, reveals ten qualitatively distinct sets of possible behavioural responses (Fig. 4B). Generally, whenever one or more stressors is escapable in space or time, formulating quantitative predictions about when organisms will choose this strategy will hinge on the magnitude of effects of the escapable stressor(s) and the cost–benefit ratio of choosing to escape relative to choosing to tolerate the stressor(s).

#### (5) Interactions among trade-offs

Although we have discussed trade-offs one at a time, our approach (Fig. 1), emphasises that these behaviours and

allocation decisions are together part of an integrated response to stressors. The adaptive behaviour or allocation for each trade-off depends on options and decisions for the other trade-offs. In the short term and small scale, how much an animal should behaviourally avoid stressors (trade-off 1) depends on the costs of being exposed to the stressors, which depends on the organism's physiological coping capacity (tolerance) that, in turn, requires energy that often can only be acquired by taking risks (trade-off 2). In the longer term or larger scale, adaptive behaviour and physiological coping capacity depend on life history trade-offs (trade-off 3) and vice versa (although in some instances responses may be developmentally fixed). Further, the decision to escape in space or time (trade-off 4) depends on the organism's expected fitness in each possible situation which depends on how the organism balances trade-offs 1-3. Given that success in escape in space or time is often state or condition dependent, the adaptive balance of trade-offs 1-3 must include the need to maintain energy stores to preserve the option to escape in space or time. While this overall integrated response is complex, we believe that it is a reality that can usefully guide our analyses of each component and, consequently, our overall understanding of organismal responses to stressors.

The integration of behavioural, physiological and lifehistory decisions highlights the importance of differences between these types of plasticity in their relative speed and reversibility, relative to the rate of change in stressor levels. When should organisms escape versus stay and cope, using a mix of physiological and behavioural responses? If stressor levels increase slowly, organisms have time both to build higher physiological capacity and to adjust behaviour, but if local stressor levels suddenly increase, this might exceed the speed of physiological plasticity (Seebacher, White & Franklin, 2015; Meng et al., 2022). In that case, the notion of taking more risks to get more energy (trade-off 2) might not come into play, because even with more energy, organisms simply cannot mount the necessary physiological responses quickly enough. Organisms can potentially still compensate behaviourally (avoid in space or time in the short term; trade-off 1), but if they cannot do that, they may be 'forced' to escape in space or time at a larger scale (trade-off 4).

# V. BEHAVIOUR AND STRESSOR EFFECTS ON COMMUNITIES

The individual behavioural responses to stressors discussed herein can affect community-level outcomes *via* effects on species interactions (e.g. consumer–resource interactions, competition and mutualism). Conversely, species interactions can affect responses to stressors (Miller, Matassa & Trussell, 2014; Thompson, McLennan & Vinebrooke, 2018; Shantz *et al.*, 2022). Therefore, understanding how stressors impact behaviourally mediated species interactions is essential for predicting when synergistic interactions will



**Fig. 4.** Trade-offs and choices associated with stressors in time and space. (A) When a single stressor, or a combination of multiple stressors that co-occur in time and space, is highly constrained in space (e.g. it affects a small patch of habitat), costs of avoidance in space are low, and, thus, escape in space should be the optimal choice. If the stressor duration is very short and it is not highly isolated in space, it should generally be optimal to tolerate or locally avoid the stressor (grey area to the left), rather than invest in escape in time. However, as stressor duration increases, it can become optimal to escape in time, and this choice is more likely to be optimal when the stressor occurs over a greater spatial scale (i.e. the stressor is experienced more by the organism in space). However, when the stressor duration is very long and it is large-scale, escape in time is impractical as is escape in space, and so tolerance or local avoidance is the optimal choice (grey area to the right). (B) The relative spatial (pink bars) and temporal (green bars) scales over which an organism and each of two stressors operate determine the set of behavioural choices available to the organism. When the spatial or temporal extent of a stressor overlaps with but is less than that of the organism (i.e. the time or space bar is shorter than that of the organism), the organism can choose to avoid the stressor in space or time, respectively. The optimal choice will depend on the relative costs of escape and tolerance. If, instead, the spatial or temporal extent of either stressor matches or exceeds that of the organism, it is left with fewer behavioural choices. Note: this is a subset of qualitatively distinct scenarios in which an organism can experience effects of multiple stressors that are at least partially correlated in space and time; allowing the pair of stressors to be completely uncorrelated greatly expands the number of possible unique scenarios.

arise, but this fundamental aspect of ecology is often absent from multiple-stressor studies (Tylianakis *et al.*, 2008; Thompson *et al.*, 2018).

Adaptive responses to stressors often involve shifts in foraging or antipredator behaviour that change the functional role of organisms within the food web. For instance, in response to stress, herbivores may shift their diet preference to select plants with higher rich, digestible carbohydrates to achieve nutritional and homeostatic balance. This selective herbivory not only changes the plant community composition, but has consequences for nutrient cycling and energy flow, because it alters the elemental composition and non-processed plant litter reaching the detrital pool (Hawlena & Schmitz, 2010). Single and multiple stressors can also directly and indirectly disrupt mutualisms or positive interspecific interactions (Hegland *et al.*, 2009; Schweiger *et al.*, 2010). Changes in the timing and spatial synchronicity of species behavioural patterns in response to stress may lower species co-occurrence rates, leading to the deterioration of mutualistic interactions (Hegland et al., 2009; Schweiger et al., 2010; Fig. 5). Furthermore, negative impacts of stressors on a single member of a mutualism can have large costs for other members, including indirect beneficiaries of the mutualism (Hegland et al., 2009; Schweiger et al., 2010; Barton & Ives, 2014). For example, the negative impact of agrochemicals on honeybee foraging and survival reduces plant pollination which, in turn, will likely reduce food availability for herbivores [i.e. the indirect beneficiaries of the plantpollinator mutualism (Botías et al., 2021; Siviter et al., 2021)] (Fig. 5). Alternatively, mutualisms or positive interspecific interactions can help buffer ecosystems against negative effects of environmental stress [e.g. the Stress Gradient Hypothesis (Thompson et al., 2018, Shantz et al., 2022)]. For instance, an ant-aphid mutualism can protect plants from indirect effects of increasing temperatures by limiting positive effects of rising temperatures on the abundance of pest predator species (Marquis, Del Toro & Pelini, 2014).

Multiple-stressor effects on communities can be difficult to predict but are likely contingent upon the degree of relative tolerance and co-tolerance of species and functional groups to those stressors (Vinebrooke et al., 2004), as well as the trophic level(s) upon which these stressors have the greatest impact. If stressors hit predators harder than prey, stressors can benefit prey and moderate both the individual and combined effects of stressors by allowing prey to feed with reduced risk, and divert energy into other life-history and physiological processes (Francis, Ortega & Cruz, 2009; White et al., 2018). These effects can then spread to other members of the community. For example, the combination of organophosphate insecticides and triazine herbicides dramatically increased trematode pathogens in pond mesocosms because these conditions favoured populations of the intermediate host (snails) by reducing the top-down behaviourally and density-mediated effects of their predators and increasing periphyton food abundance (Rumschlag et al., 2020). By contrast, if stressors disproportionately change the behaviour and feeding ecology of prev, for instance by increasing their foraging activity or reducing antipredator responses, predation rates are likely to increase, leading to stronger top-down effects on intermediate consumers (Shears & Ross, 2010; Miller et al., 2014).

If stressors specifically inhibit keystone predators, this can lead to the restructuring or collapse of entire ecosystems (Breitburg *et al.*, 1998; Rumschlag *et al.*, 2020). For example,



**Fig. 5.** Two hypothetical scenarios of how stressor effects can propagate across trophic levels leading to complex community outcomes and disruption of species interactions. In Scenario A, stressor A may disproportionately affect a single functional level (e.g. a keystone predator) which has positive indirect benefits for a consumer and negative indirect benefits on a producer. Stressor A, for example, may cause high physiological stress in the predator leading to reduced activity and hunting, thus releasing the consumer from density- and trait-mediated effects of the predator. Even though stressor A also has a physiological cost on the consumer, this cost is exceeded by the benefits associated with lower predation risk and increased foraging opportunities. Conversely, the direct negative effects of stressor A combined with increased top-down effects from consumers, may lead to negative synergistic effects on producers. In Scenario B, stressor B disrupts the sensory capability of a specialist pollinator leading to decreased foraging activity and pollination of plant A. A key seed disperser which prefers a diet of plant A, switches their primary diet to fruits of plant B due to a reduction in the availability of plant A. Plant B now benefits both from increased seed dispersal and decreased space competition from plant A leading to a fundamental shift in the composition of the plant community. Line thickness denotes size of the stressor effect. Positive/negative symbols represent stressor net effects on each trophic node.

higher temperatures reduce the top-down control of starfish predators on sea urchin populations, likely leading to increased overgrazing of kelp forests by sea urchins as ocean temperatures rise (Bonaviri et al., 2017). In situations when key functional groups or species are particularly sensitive to stressors and are subsequently reduced or eliminated from the community pool, pronounced behavioural and numerical effects can propagate across trophic levels if the ecosystem functionality of those groups is not replaced (Galic et al., 2018; Dib et al., 2020). On the other hand, when remaining species can compensate functionally for this reduction, stressor effects tend to be weakened across trophic levels, leading to more resistant communities (Blake & Duffy, 2010; Jackson et al., 2016). Indeed, the complexity inherent in ecological communities can often act as a buffer against multi-stressor effects across trophic levels. For instance, increased plant growth and quality in response to elevated  $CO_2$  levels may compensate for the energetic and maintenance costs of ocean acidification and rising environmental temperatures on grazing consumers (Ghedini & Connell, 2016; Goldenberg et al., 2018).

A less-studied mechanism potentially connecting multiple stressors and community dynamics revolves around information mutualisms; e.g. when co-occurring prey species share information about threats (e.g. predation risk; Gil *et al.*, 2018). Stress cues that are exchanged between species can provide recipients with an opportunity to prepare against impending periods of poor environmental conditions (e.g. xenohormesis; Howitz & Sinclair, 2008). If keystone information providers (e.g. species that are most vigilant about predation risk) are highly susceptible to stressors, this can have important negative effects on the ability of other species to cope with multiple stressors.

#### **VI. FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Our framework, which emphasises the potentially fundamental and pervasive role that animal behaviour and lifehistory plasticity can play in shaping the effects of multiple stressors in the wild, calls for concerted empirical approaches to test and advance these ideas. Understanding direct effects (e.g. physiological damage) caused by different ecologically relevant combinations of stressors remains critical, but such physiology-centred approaches should be coupled, whenever possible, with *in-situ* work that estimates indirect effects of these same combinations of stressors, quantifying such metrics as diel movement (e.g. via telemetry data), foraging activity (e.g. via feeding assays that measure giving-up densities; Brown & Kotler, 2004), vigilance behaviour, and relative habitat and microhabitat use. In many cases, such field data and data on direct costs from laboratory experiments could be combined not only to assess the relative contributions of direct versus indirect stressor effects (and, thus, generalise findings better to other systems while accounting for contextual differences) but also to parameterise computational models to provide broader-scale quantitative predictions of stressor effects on natural populations.

With regard to understanding variation in how organisms respond to multiple stressors, for over two decades, there has been mounting interest in the importance of consistent individual differences in animal personalities or behavioural syndromes, e.g. in aggressiveness, boldness or exploratory tendency (Sih *et al.*, 2004, 2012; Reale *et al.*, 2007) including dispersal tendency (Cote *et al.*, 2010), physiology (Biro & Stamps, 2008) and life histories (Reale *et al.*, 2010). Promising topics that remain understudied include how individual differences in suites of phenotypic traits relate to variation in how organisms balance the four trade-offs discussed here.

A worthwhile future direction would be to examine the influence of a mix of genetic adaptation and transgenerational and within-generation developmental plasticity (including learning) in shaping an integrated response to multiple stressors (Donelan et al., 2020; Orr et al., 2022). The probability of a stressor still having deleterious effects for the next generation may affect the current choices of a would-be parent (e.g. nest position and timing), along with maternal effects on offspring traits. Examining ecological and social factors that, in the past or present, shape the overall integrated response to multiple stressors could help identify genetic or developmental constraints that affect the speed or trajectory of adaptation to multiple stressors (De Coninck et al., 2013; Cambronero et al., 2018; Donelan et al., 2020; Michelangeli et al., 2022). In particular, understanding epigenetic or developmental effects can reveal otherwise hidden mechanisms of multiple-stressor effects discussed in Section III. With multi-generational transgenerational plasticity, behavioural responses to stressors in one generation can influence impacts of those stressors on other generations into the future (Bell & Hellmann, 2019).

While we focused primarily on individual responses to multiple stressors, we also expanded our scope to consider stressors, and their physiological and behavioural effects, in the context of natural communities (Fig. 5). Further theoretical and empirical investigations of how our comprehensive framework on stressor effects could help explain the structure and dynamics of natural communities should offer a timely and promising avenue for future study.

#### **VII. CONCLUSIONS**

(1) The effects of multiple stressors can be mediated by small-scale changes in animal behaviour, such as avoidance. While such changes may reduce exposure to one stressor, they may increase the impacts of others.

(2) Carry-over effects of multiple stressors may be observed where stressors do not overlap temporally, but where exposure to one stressor alters the impact of another later on. Animal movements can mediate exposure to spatially or temporally separated stressors. need for increased energy intake rates (*via* foraging, hunting) at the expense of greater exposure to predators and other dangers.

(4) Organisms may also need to trade off allocating energy to maintain behavioural *versus* physiological responses to survive multiple stressor exposure, alongside key life-history demands such as reproduction.

(5) Organisms can respond to stressors by escaping in space, *via* long-distance movement, or by escaping in time, *via* dormancy, but these strategies can incur energetic costs and/or lead to exposure to novel stressors.

(6) Stress responses, both behavioural and physiological, of organisms can alter the rate and/or nature of species interactions, thereby affecting community-level outcomes such as energy flow and nutrient cycling.

#### VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Anne E. Todgham for her feedback on the initial conceptual framework. This project was supported by a National Science Foundation grant IOS 1456724 to A. S. In addition, L. K. L. was supported by an Australia Awards Endeavour Fellowship, M. A. G. was supported by a NSF Postdoctoral Fellowship, University of Colorado Chancellor's Postdoctoral Fellowship, and NSF grant EF-2222478. P. C. T. was partly funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) as part of the SFB TRR 212 (NC<sup>3</sup>). I. Y. L. was supported by a National Science Foundation grant 1557836.

#### IX. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

L. K. L., M. A. G., A. S., P. C. T. and P. H. C. developed the initial framework. All authors contributed to the writing of the first draft, revision and framework development.

#### X. REFERENCES

- ABRAMS, P. A., HOLT, R. D. & ROTH, J. D. (1998). Apparent competition or apparent mutualism? Shared predation when populations cycle. *Ecology* 79, 201–212.
- ANDERSSON, M. (1994). Sexual Selection. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- ARAÚJO, C. V. M., MOREIRA-SANTOS, M. & RIBEIRO, R. (2016). Active and passive spatial avoidance by aquatic organisms from environmental stressors: a complementary perspective and a critical review. *Environment International* 92-93, 405–415.
- ARNOLD, S. J. (1983). Morphology, performance, and fitness. American Zoologist 23, 347–361.
- BARTON, B. T. & IVES, A. R. (2014). Direct and indirect effects of warming on aphids, their predators, and ant mutualists. *Ecology* 95, 1479–1484.
- BELL, A. M. & HELLMANN, J. K. (2019). An integrative framework for understanding the mechanisms and multigenerational consequences of transgenerational plasticity. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 50, 97–118.
- BERG, M. P., KIERS, E. T., DRIESSEN, G., VAN DER HEIJDEN, M., KOOI, B. W., KUENEN, F., LIEFTING, M., VERHOEF, H. A. & ELLERS, J. (2010). Adapt or disperse: understanding species persistence in a changing world. *Global Change Biology* 16, 587–598.

- BERGER, J. (2007). Fear, human shields and the redistribution of prey and predators in protected areas. *Biology Letters* 3, 620–623.
- BESTION, E., CUCHEROUSSET, J., TEYSSIER, A. & COTE, J. (2015). Non-consumptive effects of a top-predator decrease the strength of the trophic cascade in a four-level terrestrial food web. *Oikos* 124, 1597–1602.
- BIRO, P. A. & STAMPS, J. A. (2008). Are animal personality traits linked to life-history productivity? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23, 361–368.
- BLAKE, R. E. & DUFFY, E. (2010). Grazer diversity affects resistance to multiple stressors in an experimental seagrass ecosystem. *Oikos* 119(10), 1625–1635.
- BONAVIRI, C., GRAHAM, M., GIANGUZZA, P. & SHEARS, N. T. (2017). Warmer temperatures reduce the influence of an important keystone predator. *The Journal* of Animal Ecology 86, 490–500.
- BONNEAUD, C., MAZUC, J., GONZALEZ, G., HAUSSY, C., CHASTEL, O., FAIVRE, B. & SORCI, G. (2003). Assessing the cost of mounting an immune response. *American Naturalist* 161, 367–379.
- BONTE, D. & DAHIREL, M. (2017). Dispersal: a central and independent trait in life history. Oikos 126, 472–479.
- BONTE, D. & DE LA PENA, E. (2009). Evolution of body condition-dependent dispersal in metapopulations. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 22, 1242–1251.
- BOOGERT, N. J., FARINE, D. R. & SPENCER, K. A. (2014). Developmental stress predicts social network position. *Biology Letters* 10(10), 20140561.
- BOONE, M. D., SEMLITSCH, R. D., LITTLE, E. E. & DOYLE, M. C. (2007). Multiple stressors in amphibian communities: effects of chemical contamination, bullfrogs, and fish. *Ecological Applications* 17, 291–301.
- BOTÍAS, C., JONES, J. C., PAMMINGER, T., BARTOMEUS, I., HUGHES, W. O. H. & GOULSON, D. (2021). Multiple stressors interact to impair the performance of bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* colonies. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* **90**, 415–431.
- BRADSHAW, A. D. (1972). Some of the evolutionary consequences of being a plant. Evolutionary Biology 5, 25–47.
- BREITBURG, D. L., BAXTER, J. W., HATFIELD, C. A., HOWARTH, R. W., JONES, C. G., LOVETT, G. M. & WIGAND, C. (1998). Understanding effects of multiple stressors: ideas and challenges. In Successes, Limitations, and Frontiers in Ecosystem Science (eds M. L. PACE and P. M. GROFFMAN), pp. 416–431. Springer, New York.
- BRILOT, B. O., BATESON, M., NETTLE, D., WHITTINGHAM, M. J. & READ, J. C. A. (2012). When is general wariness favored in avoiding multiple predator types? *The American Naturalist* 179, 180–195.
- BRODIN, T., PIOVANO, S., FICK, J., KLAMINDER, J., HEYNEN, M. & JONSSON, M. (2014). Ecological effects of pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems-impacts through behavioural alterations. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 369, 1656.
- BROWN, J. S. (1999). Vigilance, patch use and habitat selection: foraging under predation risk. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* 1, 49–71.
- BROWN, J. S. & KOTLER, B. P. (2004). Hazardous duty pay and the foraging cost of predation. *Ecology Letters* 7(10), 999–1014.
- BRUDER, A., SALIS, R. K., JONES, P. E. & MATTHAEI, C. D. (2017). Biotic interactions modify multiple-stressor effects on juvenile brown trout in an experimental stream food web. *Global Change Biology* 23, 3882–3894.
- BRUST, V., KRUGER, O., NAGUIB, M. & KRAUSE, E. T. (2014). Lifelong consequences of early nutritional conditions on learning performance in zebra finches (*Taeniopygia* guttata). Behavioural Processes 103, 320–326.
- BYRNE, M., FOO, S. A., ROSS, P. M. & PUTNAM, H. M. (2020). Limitations of crossand multigenerational plasticity for marine invertebrates faced with global climate change. *Global Change Biology* 26, 80–102.
- BYRNE, M. & PRZESLAWSKI, R. (2013). Multistressor impacts of warming and acidification of the ocean on marine invertebrates' life histories. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 53, 582–596.
- CAMBRONERO, M. C., MARSHALL, H., DE MEESTER, L., DAVIDSON, T. A., BECKERMAN, A. P. & ORSINI, L. (2018). Predictability of the impact of multiple stressors on the keystone species *Daphnia. Scientific Reports* 8, 11.
- CAMPANATI, C., YIP, S., LANE, A. & THIYAGARAJAN, V. (2016). Combined effects of low pH and low oxygen on the early-life stages of the barnacle *Balanus amphitrite. ICES Journal of Marine Science* 73(3), 791–802.
- CERBIN, S., KRAAK, M. H. S., DE VOOGT, P., VISSER, P. M. & VAN DONK, E. (2010). Combined and single effects of pesticide carbaryl and toxic *Microcystis aeruginosa* on the life history of *Daphnia pulicaria*. *Hydrobiologia* **643**, 129–138.
- CHABY, L. E., SHERIFF, M. J., HIRRLINGER, A. M. & BRAITHWAITE, V. A. (2015). Does early stress prepare individuals for a stressful future? Stress during adolescence improves foraging under threat. *Animal Behaviour* 105, 37–45.
- CHAN, F., BARTH, J. A., KROEKER, K., LUBCHENCO, J. & MENGE, B. A. (2019). The dynamics and impact of ocean acidification and hypoxia: insights from sustained investigations in the Northern California Current large marine ecosystem. *Oceanography* 32, 62–71.
- CHAPMAN, R. F. (1998). The Insects: Structure and Function. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- CHATELAIN, M., DROBNIAK, S. M. & SZULKIN, M. (2020). The association between stressors and telomeres in non-human vertebrates: a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters* 23, 381–398.
- CLINCHY, M., SHERIFF, M. J. & ZANETTE, L. Y. (2013). Predator-induced stress and the ecology of fear. *Functional Ecology* 27, 56–65.
- CLUSELLA-TRULLAS, S. & CHOWN, S. L. (2014). Lizard thermal trait variation at multiple scales: a review. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B-Biochemical Systems and Environmental Physiology* 184, 5–21.
- CORREA-ARANEDA, F., BASAGUREN, A., ABDALA-DIAZ, R. T., TONIN, A. M. & BOYERO, L. (2017). Resource-allocation trade-offs in caddisflies facing multiple stressors. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 5103–5110.
- COTE, I. M., DARLING, E. S. & BROWN, C. J. (2016). Interactions among ecosystem stressors and their importance in conservation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 283, 20152592.
- COTE, J., CLOBERT, J., BRODIN, T., FOGARTY, S. & SIH, A. (2010). Personalitydependent dispersal: characterization, ontogeny and consequences for spatially structured populations. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 4065–4076.
- COWLES, R. B. (1941). Observations on the winter activities of desert reptiles. *Ecology* 22, 125–140.
- CRINO, O. L., DRISCOLL, S. C., TON, R. & BREUNER, C. W. (2014). Corticosterone exposure during development improves performance on a novel foraging task in zebra finches. *Animal Behaviour* **91**, 27–32.
- CROWLEY, P. H., TRIMMER, P. C., SPIEGEL, O., EHLMAN, S. M., CUELLO, W. S. & SIH, A. (2019). Predicting habitat choice after rapid environmental change. *The American Naturalist* **193**, 619–632.
- CULSHAW-MAURER, M., SIH, A. & ROSENHEIM, J. A. (2020). Bugs scaring bugs: enemy-risk effects in biological control systems. *Ecology Letters* 23, 1693–1714.
- DAHLKE, F. T., WOHLRAB, S., BUTZIN, M. & PÖRTNER, H.-O. (2020). Thermal bottlenecks in the life cycle define climate vulnerability of fish. *Science* 369, 65–70.
- DANKS, H. V. (2000). Dehydration in dormant insects. *Journal of Inset Physiology* 46, 837–852.
- DAVIS, B. E., KOMOROSKE, L. M., HANSEN, M. J., POLETTO, J. B., PERRY, E. N., MILLER, N. A., EHLMAN, S. M., WHEELER, S. G., SIH, A., TODGHAM, A. E. & FANGUE, N. A. (2018). Juvenile rockfish show resilience to  $CO_2$ -acidification and hypoxia across multiple biological scales. *Conservation Physiology* 6(1), coy038.
- DE CONINCK, D. I. M., DE SCHAMPHELAERE, K. A. C., JANSEN, M., DE MEESTER, L. & JANSSEN, C. R. (2013). Interactive effects of a bacterial parasite and the insecticide carbaryl to life-history and physiology of two *Daphnia magna* clones differing in carbaryl sensitivity. *Aquatic Toxicology* **130**, 149–159.
- DELNAT, V., JANSSENS, L. & STOKS, R. (2019). Whether warming magnifies the toxicity of a pesticide is strongly dependent on the concentration and the null model. Aquatic Toxicology 211, 38–45.
- DENNY, M. W. & GAYLORD, B. (2010). Marine ecomechanics. Annual Review of Marine Science 2(1), 89–114.
- DENNY, M. W. & HELMUTH, B. (2009). Confronting the physiological bottleneck: a challenge from ecomechanics. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 49(3), 197–201.
- DIB, V., PIRES, A. P. F., NOVA, C. C., BOZELLI, R. L. & FARJALLA, V. F. (2020). Biodiversity-mediated effects on ecosystem functioning depend on the type and intensity of environmental disturbances. *Oikos* 129, 433–443.
- DINGLE, H. (2014). Migration: The Biology of Life on the Move, Second Edition. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- DINH, K. V., JANSSENS, L. & STOKS, R. (2016). Exposure to a heat wave under food limitation makes an agricultural insecticide lethal: a mechanistic laboratory experiment. *Global Change Biology* 22, 3361–3372.
- DINH, K. V., KONESTABO, H. J., BORGA, K., HYLLAND, K., MACAULAY, S. J., JACKSON, M. C., VERHEYEN, J. & STOKS, R. (2022). Interactive effects of warming and pollutants on marine and freshwater invertebrates. *Current Pollution Reports* 8, 341–359.
- DONELAN, S. C., HELLMANN, J. K., BELL, A. M., LUTTBEG, B., ORROCK, J. L., SHERIFF, M. J. & SIH, A. (2020). Transgenerational plasticity in human-altered environments. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 35, 115–124.
- EDENBROW, M. & CROFT, D. P. (2013). Environmental and genetic effects shape the development of personality traits in the mangrove killifish *Kryptolebias marmoratus*. *Oikos* 122, 667–681.
- EINUM, S. & FLEMING, I. A. (1999). Maternal effects of egg size in brown trout (Salmo trutta): norms of reaction to environmental quality. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 266, 2095–2100.
- FEDER, M. E. & BURGGREN, W. W. (1992). Environmental Physiology of the Amphibians. University of Chicago Press, Illinois.
- FERRARI, M. C. O., MCCORMICK, M. I., MUNDAY, P. L., MEEKAN, M. G., DIXSON, D. L., LONNSTEDT, O. & CHIVERS, D. P. (2011). Putting prey and predator into the  $CO_2$  equation qualitative and quantitative effects of ocean acidification on predator–prey interactions. *Ecology Letters* **14**, 1143–1148.
- FERRARI, M. C. O., MUNDAY, P. L., RUMMER, J. L., MCCORMICK, M. I., CORKILL, K., WATSON, S. A., ALLAN, B. J. M., MEEKAN, M. G. &

CHIVERS, D. P. (2015). Interactive effects of ocean acidification and rising sea temperatures alter predation rate and predator selectivity in reef fish communities. *Global Change Biology* **21**, 1848–1855.

- FEY, S. B., VASSEUR, D. A., ALUJEVIC, K., KROEKER, K. J., LOGAN, M. L., O'CONNOR, M. I., RUDOLF, V. H. W., DELONG, J. P., PEACOR, S., SELDEN, R. L., SIH, A. & CLUSELLA-TRULLAS, S. (2019). Opportunities for behavioral rescue under rapid environmental change. *Global Change Biology* 25, 3110–3120.
- FRANCIS, C. D., ORTEGA, C. P. & CRUZ, A. (2009). Noise pollution changes avian communities and species interactions. *Current Biology* 19, 1415–1419.
- FRENCH, S. S., DENARDO, D. F. & MOORE, M. C. (2007). Trade-offs between the reproductive and immune systems: facultative responses to resources or obligate responses to reproduction? *American Naturalist* **170**, 79–89.
- FREUCHET, F., FLORES, A. A. V. & TREMBLAY, R. (2015). Interacting environmental stressors modulate reproductive output and larval performance in a tropical intertidal barnacle. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 532, 161–175.
- GALIC, N., SULLIVAN, L. L., GRIMM, V. & FORBES, V. E. (2018). When things don't add up: quantifying impacts of multiple stressors from individual metabolism to ecosystem processing. *Ecology Letters* 21, 568–577.
- GARCIA, T. S., STACY, J. & SIH, A. (2004). Larval salamander response to UV radiation and predation risk: color change and microhabitat use. *Ecological Applications* 14, 1055–1064.
- GAYNOR, K. M., HOJNOWSKI, C. E., CARTER, N. H. & BRASHARES, J. S. (2018). The influence of human disturbance on wildlife nocturnality. *Science* 360, 1232–1235.
- GEISER, F. (2004). Metabolic rate and body temperature reduction during hibernation and daily torpor. Annual Review of Physiology 66, 239–274.
- GHEDINI, G. & CONNELL, S. D. (2016). Organismal homeostasis buffers the effects of abiotic change on community dynamics. *Ecology* 97, 2671–2679.
- GIL, M. A., HEIN, A. M., SPIEGEL, O., BASKETT, M. L. & SIH, A. (2018). Social information links individual behavior to population and community dynamics. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 33, 535–548.
- GOLDENBERG, S. U., NAGELKERKEN, I., MARANGON, E., BONNET, A., FERREIRA, C. M. & CONNELL, S. D. (2018). Ecological complexity buffers the impacts of future climate on marine consumers. *Nature Climate Change* 8, 229–233.
- GOTO, M., SEKINE, Y., OUTA, H., HUJIKURA, M. & SUZUKI, K. (2001). Relationships between cold hardiness and diapause, and between glycerol and free amino acid contents in overwintering larvae of the oriental corn borer, *Ostrinia furnacalis*. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 47, 157–165.
- GUNDERSON, A. R., ARMSTRONG, E. J. & STILLMAN, J. H. (2016). Multiple stressors in a changing world: the need for an improved perspective on physiological responses to the dynamic marine environment. *Annual Review of Marine Science* 8, 357–378.
- HAIRSTON, N. G. JR. & FOX, J. A. (2009). Egg Banks. In *Encyclopedia of Inland Waters* (ed. G. E. LIKENS). Academic Press, New York.
- HALE, R., PIGGOTT, J. J. & SWEARER, S. E. (2017). Describing and understanding behavioral responses to multiple stressors and multiple stimuli. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 38–47.
- HAWLENA, D. & SCHMITZ, O. J. (2010). Physiological stress as a fundamental mechanism linking predation to ecosystem functioning. *American Naturalist* 176, 537–556.
- HAYDEN, M. T., REEVES, M. K., HOLVOAK, M., PERDUE, M., KING, A. L. & TOBIN, S. C. (2015). Thrice as easy to catch! Copper and temperature modulate predator-prey interactions in larval dragonflies and anurans. *Ecosphere* 6(4), 1–17.
- HEGLAND, S. J., NIELSEN, A., LAZARO, A., BJERKNES, A. L. & TOTLAND, O. (2009). How does climate warming affect plant–pollinator interactions? *Ecology Letters* 12, 184–195.
- HETTINGER, A., SANFORD, E., HILL, T. M., HOSFELT, J. D., RUSSELL, A. D. & GAYLORD, B. (2013). The influence of food supply on the response of Olympia oyster larvae to ocean acidification. *Biogeosciences* 10, 6629–6638.
- HINTZ, W. D., JONES, D. K. & RELYEA, R. A. (2019). Evolved tolerance to freshwater salinization in zooplankton: life-history trade-offs, cross-tolerance and reducing cascading effects. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 374, 10.
- HOLT, R. D. (1977). Predation, apparent competition, and the structure of prey communities. *Theoretical Population Biology* 12, 197–229.
- HOPE, B. V., FJELLNER, K. L., RENN, S. C. P. & HURD, P. L. (2020). Juvenile stress disrupts the development of an exploration–boldness behavioural syndrome in convict cichlid fish. *Animal Behaviour* 161, 95–102.
- HORWITZ, R., NORIN, T., WATSON, S. A., PISTEVOS, J. C. A., BELDADE, R., HACQUART, S., GATTUSO, J., RODOLFO-METALPA, R., VIDAL-DUPIOL, J., KILLEN, S. S. & MILLS, S. C. (2020). Near-future ocean warming and acidification alter foraging behaviour, locomotion, and metabolic rate in a keystone marine mollusc. *Scientific Reports* **10**, 5461.
- HOUSTON, A. I. & MCNAMARA, J. M. (1999). Models of Adaptive Behaviour, an Approach Based on State. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- HOWITZ, K. T. & SINCLAIR, D. A. (2008). Xenohormesis: sensing the chemical cues of other species. *Cell* 133, 387–391.

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 1345-1364 © 2023 Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- HUEY, R. B., CARLSON, M., CROZIER, L., FRAZIER, M., HAMILTON, H., HARLEY, C., HOANG, A. & KINGSOLVER, J. G. (2002). Plants versus animals: do they deal with stress in different ways? *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 42, 415–423.
- HUMPHRIES, M. M., THOMAS, D. W. & KRAMER, D. L. (2003). The role of energy availability in mammalian hibernation: a cost-benefit approach. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 76, 165–179.
- JACHOWSKI, D. S., KAUFFMAN, M. J., JESMER, B. R., SAWYER, H. & MILLSPAUGH, J. J. (2018). Integrating physiological stress into the movement ecology of migratory ungulates: a spatial analysis with mule deer. *Conservation. Physiology* 6(1), coy054.
- JACKSON, M. C., LOEWEN, C. J. G., VINEBROOKE, R. D. & CHIMIMBA, C. T. (2016). Net effects of multiple stressors in freshwater ecosystems: a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* 22, 180–189.
- JAGER, T. & KLOK, C. (2010). Extrapolating toxic effects on individuals to the population level: the role of dynamic energy budgets. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3531–3540.
- JANSSENS, L., DINH, K. V. & STOKS, R. (2014). Extreme temperatures in the adult stage shape delayed effects of larval pesticide stress: a comparison between latitudes. *Aquatic Toxicology* 148, 74–82.
- KEARNEY, M., SIMPSON, S. J., RAUBENHEIMER, D. & HELMUTH, B. (2010). Modelling the ecological niche from functional traits. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3469–3483.
- KEARNEY, M. R., MUNNS, S. L., MOORE, D., MALISHEV, M. & BULL, C. M. (2018). Field tests of a general ectotherm niche model show how water can limit lizard activity and distribution. *Ecological Monographs* 88, 672–693.
- KEARNEY, M. R. & PORTER, W. P. (2020). NicheMapR an R package for biophysical modelling: the ectotherm and dynamic energy budget models. *Ecography* 43, 85–96.
- KEARNEY, M. R., SIMPSON, S. J., RAUBENHEIMER, D. & KOOIJMAN, S. (2013). Balancing heat, water and nutrients under environmental change: a thermodynamic niche framework. *Functional Ecology* 27, 950–965.
- KILLEN, S. S., FU, C., WU, Q. Y., WANG, Y. X. & FU, S. J. (2016). The relationship between metabolic rate and sociability is altered by food deprivation. *Functional Ecology* **30**, 1358–1365.
- KILLEN, S. S., MARRAS, S., METCALFE, N. B., MCKENZIE, D. J. & DOMENICI, P. (2013). Environmental stressors alter relationships between physiology and behaviour. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28, 651–658.
- KOOIJMAN, B. (2009). Dynamic Energy Budget Theory for Metabolic Organisation, Third Edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KOOIJMAN, S. A. L. M. (1993). Dynamic Energy and Mass Budgets in Biological Systems, Second Edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KRIENGWATANA, B., FARRELL, T. M., AITKEN, S. D. T., GARCIA, L. & MACDOUGALL-SHACKLETON, S. A. (2015). Early-life nutritional stress affects associative learning and spatial memory but not performance on a novel object test. *Behaviour* 152, 195–218.
- KROEKER, K. J., SANFORD, E., JELLISON, B. M. & GAYLORD, B. (2014). Predicting the effects of ocean acidification on predator-prey interactions: a conceptual framework based on coastal molluses. *The Biological Bulletin* **226**, 211–222.
- LANGE, K., BRUDER, A., MATTHAEI, C. D., BRODERSEN, J. & PATERSON, R. A. (2018). Multiple-stressor effects on freshwater fish: importance of taxonomy and life stage. *Fish and Fisheries* 19, 974–983.
- LEVIN, S. A., COHEN, D. & HASTINGS, A. (1984). Dispersal strategies in patchy environments. *Theoretical Population Biology* 26, 165–191.
- LEVINS, R. (1969). Dormancy as an adaptive strategy. Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology 23, 1–10.
- LIENART, G. D. H., MITCHELL, M. D., FERRARI, M. C. O. & MCCORMICK, M. I. (2014). Temperature and food availability affect risk assessment in an ectotherm. *Animal Behaviour* 89, 199–204.
- LIMA, S. L. (1992). Life in a multipredator environment some considerations for antipredatory vigilance. Annales Zoologici Fennici 29, 217–226.
- LIMA, S. L. (1998). Stress and decision making under the risk of predation: recent developments from behavioral, reproductive, and ecological perspectives. *Stress and Behavior* 27, 215–290.
- LUTTBEG, B. & SIH, A. (2010). Risk, resources and state-dependent adaptive behavioural syndromes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3977–3990.
- MACMILLAN, H. A., WALSH, J. P. & SINCLAIR, B. J. (2009). The effects of selection for cold tolerance on cross-tolerance to other environmental stressors in *Drosophila* melanogaster. Insect Science 16, 263–276.
- MARQUIS, M., DEL TORO, I. & PELINI, S. L. (2014). Insect mutualisms buffer warming effects on multiple trophic levels. *Ecology* **95**, 9–13.
- MARTÍN, J. & LÓPEZ, P. (1999). An experimental test of the costs of antipredatory refuge use in the wall lizard, *Podarcis muralis. Oikos* 84, 499–505.
- MARTIN, T. E. (1995). Avian life-history evolution in relation to nest sites, nest predation, and food. *Ecological Monographs* 65, 101–127.

- MATSUDA, H., HORI, M. & ABRAMS, P. A. (1996). Effects of predator-specific defence on biodiversity and community complexity in two-trophic-level communities. *Evolutionary Ecology* 10, 13–28.
- MAYOR, D. J., SOMMER, U., COOK, K. B. & VIANT, M. R. (2015). The metabolic response of marine copepods to environmental warming and ocean acidification in the absence of food. *Scientific Reports* 5, 13690.
- MCCUE, M. D. (2010). Starvation physiology: reviewing the different strategies animals use to survive a common challenge. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, *Part A-Molecular and Integrative Physiology* **156**, 1–18.
- MCEWEN, B. S. & WINGFIELD, J. C. (2003). The concept of allostasis in biology and biomedicine. *Hormones and Behavior* 43, 2–15.
- MENG, S. D., TRAN, T. T., DINH, K. V., DELNAT, V. & STOKS, R. (2022). Acute warming increases pesticide toxicity more than transgenerational warming by reducing the energy budget. *Science of the Total Environment* 805, 150373.
- MERKLE, J. A., MONTEITH, K. L., AIKENS, E. O., HAYES, M. M., HERSEY, K. R., MIDDLETON, A. D., OATES, B. A., SAWYER, H., SCURLOCK, B. M. & KAUFFMAN, M. J. (2016). Large herbivores surf waves of green-up during spring. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 283, 20160456.
- MICHELANGELI, M., MARTIN, J. M., PINTER-WOLLMAN, N., IOANNOU, C. C., MCCALLUM, E. S., BERTRAM, M. G. & BRODIN, T. (2022). Predicting the impacts of chemical pollutants on animal groups. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 37(9), 789–802.
- MIKHEEV, V. N., PASTERNAK, A. F., MOROZOV, A. Y. & TASKINEN, J. (2020). Innate antipredator behavior can promote infection in fish even in the absence of predators. *Behavioral Ecology* 31, 267–276.
- MILER, K., STEC, D. & CZARNOLESKI, M. (2020). Heat wave effects on the behavior and life-history traits of sedentary antlions. *Behavioral Ecology* 31, 1326–1333.
- MILLER, L. P., MATASSA, C. M. & TRUSSELL, G. C. (2014). Climate change enhances the negative effects of predation risk on an intermediate consumer. *Global Change Biology* 20, 3834–3844.
- MITCHELL, D., SNELLING, E. P., HETEM, R. S., MALONEY, S. K., STRAUSS, W. M. & FULLER, A. (2018). Revisiting concepts of thermal physiology: predicting responses of mammals to climate change. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 87, 956–973.
- MONACO, C. J. & MCQUAID, C. D. (2018). Applicability of dynamic energy budget (DEB) models across steep environmental gradients. *Scientific Reports* 8, 16384.
- MOORE, S. L. & WILSON, K. (2002). Parasites as a viability cost of sexual selection in natural populations of mammals. *Science* **297**, 2015–2018.
- NISBET, R. M., MCCAULEY, E. & JOHNSON, L. R. (2010). Dynamic energy budget theory and population ecology: lessons from *Daphnia*. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3541–3552.
- NISBET, R. M., MULLER, E. B., LIKA, K. & KOOIJMAN, S. (2000). From molecules to ecosystems through dynamic energy budget models. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 69, 913–926.
- OHLUND, G., HEDSTROM, P., NORMAN, S., HEIN, C. L. & ENGLUND, G. (2015). Temperature dependence of predation depends on the relative performance of predators and prey. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 282, 20142254.
- ORR, J. A., LUIJCKX, P., ARNOLDI, J.-F., JACKSON, A. L. & PIGGOTT, J. J. (2022). Rapid evolution generates synergism between multiple stressors: linking theory and an evolution experiment. *Global Change Biology* 28(5), 1740–1752.
- ORR, J. A., VINEBROOKE, R. D., JACKSON, M. C., KROEKER, K. J., KORDAS, R. L., MANTYKA-PRINGLE, C., VAN DEN BRINK, P. J., DE LAENDER, F., STOKS, R., HOLMSTRUP, M., MATTHAEI, C. D., MONK, W. A., PENK, M. R., LEUZINGER, S., SCHÄFER, R. B. & PIGGOTT, J. J. (2020). Towards a unified study of multiple stressors: divisions and common goals across research disciplines. *Proceedings of the Ryal Society B-Biological Sciences* 287(1926), 20200421.
- PARMESAN, C., RYRHOLM, N., STEFANESCU, C., HILL, J. K., THOMAS, C. D., DESCIMON, H., HUNTLEY, B., KAILA, L., KULLBERG, J., TAMMARU, T., TENNENT, W. J., THOMAS, J. A. & WARREN, M. (1999). Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. *Nature* 399, 579–583.
- PEACOR, S. D., BARTON, B. T., KIMBRO, D. L., SIH, A. & SHERIFF, M. J. (2020). A framework and standardized terminology to facilitate the study of predation-risk effects. *Ecology* **101**(12), e03152.
- PETITJEAN, Q., JEAN, S., GANDAR, A., COTE, J., LAFFAILLE, P. & JACQUIN, L. (2019). Stress responses in fish: from molecular to evolutionary processes. *Science of the Total Environment* 684, 371–380.
- PINCEBOURDE, S., SANFORD, E., CASAS, J. & HELMUTH, B. (2012). Temporal coincidence of environmental stress events modulates predation rates. *Ecology Letters* 15, 680–688.
- POLO-CAVIA, N., BURRACO, P. & GOMEZ-MESTRE, I. (2016). Low levels of chemical anthropogenic pollution may threaten amphibians by impairing predator recognition. Aquatic Toxicology 172, 30–35.
- PONGE, J.-F. (2020). Move or change, an eco-evolutionary dilemma: the case of Collembola. Pedobiologia 79, 150625.

- PORTER, W. P., MITCHELL, J. W., BECKMAN, W. A. & DEWITT, C. B. (1973). Behavioral implications of mechanistic ecology: thermal and behavioral modeling of desert ectotherms and their microenvironment. *Oecologia* 13, 1–54.
- PÖRTNER, H. O. (2002). Climate variations and the physiological basis of temperature dependent biogeography: systemic to molecular hierarchy of thermal tolerance in animals. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A-Molecular and Integrative Physiology 132, 739–761.
- PÖRTNER, H. O. (2010). Oxygen- and capacity-limitation of thermal tolerance: a matrix for integrating climate-related stressor effects in marine ecosystems. *Journal* of Experimental Biology **213**, 881–893.
- PÖRTNER, H. O. & KNUST, R. (2007). Climate change affects marine fishes through the oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance. *Science* **315**, 95–97.
- PÖRTNER, H. O., LANGENBUCH, M. & REIPSCHLÄGER, A. (2004). Biological impact of elevated ocean CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations: lessons from animal physiology and earth history. *Journal of Oceanography* **60**, 705–718.
- PROMISLOW, D. E. L., MONTGOMERIE, R. & MARTIN, T. E. (1992). Mortality costs of sexual dimophism in birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 250, 143–150.
- PRZESLAWSKI, R., BYRNE, M. & MELLIN, C. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of the effects of multiple abiotic stressors on marine embryos and larvae. *Global Change Biology* 21, 2122–2140.
- RAHMAN, M. A., HENDERSON, S., MILLER-EZZY, P., LI, X. X. & QIN, J. G. (2019). Immune response to temperature stress in three bivalve species: Pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas, Mediterranean mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis and mud cockle Katelysia rhytiphora. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 86, 868–874.
- RASANEN, K., SODERMAN, F., LAURILA, A. & MERILA, J. (2008). Geographic variation in maternal investment: acidity affects egg size and fecundity in *Rana* avails. Ecology 89, 2553–2562.
- RATTAN, S. & FLAWS, J. A. (2019). The epigenetic impacts of endocrine disruptors on female reproduction across generations. *Biology of Reproduction* 101, 635–644.
- REALE, D., GARANT, D., HUMPHRIES, M. M., BERGERON, P., CAREAU, V. & MONTIGLIO, P. O. (2010). Personality and the emergence of the pace-of-life syndrome concept at the population level. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 4051–4063.
- REALE, D., READER, S. M., SOL, D., MCDOUGALL, P. T. & DINGEMANSE, N. J. (2007). Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biological Reviews* 82, 291–318.
- REEVES, M. K., JENSEN, P., DOLPH, C. L., HOLYOAK, M. & TRUST, K. A. (2010). Multiple stressors and the cause of amphibian abnormalities. *Ecological Monographs* 80, 423–440.
- RELYEA, R. A., SCHOEPPNER, N. M. & HOVERMAN, J. T. (2005). Pesticides and amphibians: the importance of community context. *Ecological Applications* 15, 1125– 1134.
- RINEHART, S. & HAWLENA, D. (2020). The effects of predation risk on prey stoichiometry: a meta-analysis. *Ecology* **101**(7), e03037.
- RIVRUD, I. M., BISCHOF, R., MEISINGSET, E. L., ZIMERMANN, B., LOE, L. E. & MYSTERUD, A. (2016). Leave before it's too late: anthropogenic and environmental triggers of autumn migration in a hunted ungulate population. *Ecology* 97, 1058–1068. ROFF, D. (2002). *Life History Evolution*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- ROHR, J. R., ELSKUS, A. A., SHEPHERD, B. S., CROWLEY, P. H., MCCARTHY, T. M., NIEDZWIECKI, J. H., SAGER, T., SIH, A. & PALMER, B. D. (2004). Multiple stressors and salamanders: effects of an herbicide, food limitation, and hydroperiod. *Ecological Applications* 14, 1028–1040.
- ROHR, J. R., SESTERHENN, T. M. & STIEHA, C. (2011). Will climate change reduce the effects of a pesticide on amphibians?: partitioning effects on exposure and susceptibility to contaminants. *Global Change Biology* 17, 657–666.
- ROMERO, L. M., DICKENS, M. J. & CYR, N. E. (2009). The reactive scope model a new model integrating homeostasis, allostasis, and stress. *Hormones and Behavior* 55, 375–389.
- ROZEN-RECHELS, D., DUPOU, A., LOURDAIS, O., CHAMAILL-JAMMES, S., MEYLAN, S., CLOBERT, J. & LE GALLIARD, J.-F. (2019). When water interacts with temperature: ecological and evolutionary implications of thermo-hydroregulation in terrestrial ectotherms. *Ecology and Evolution* 9, 10029–10043.
- RUDOLF, V. H. W. (2008). Impact of cannibalism on predator-prey dynamics: sizestructured interactions and apparent mutualism. *Ecology* 89, 1650–1660.
- RUMSCHLAG, S. L., MAHON, M. B., HOVERMAN, J. T., RAFFEL, T. R., CARRICK, H. J., HUDSON, P. J. & ROHR, J. R. (2020). Consistent effects of pesticides on community structure and ecosystem function in freshwater systems. *Nature Communications* 11, 6333.
- RUSSELL, B. D., HARLEY, C. D. G., WERNBERG, T., MIESZKOWSKA, N., WIDDICOMBE, S., HALL-SPENCER, J. M. & CONNELL, S. D. (2012). Predicting ecosystem shifts requires new approaches that integrate the effects of climate change across entire systems. *Biology Letters* 8, 164–166.
- SAARISTO, M., BRODIN, T., BALSHINE, S., BERTRAM, M. G., BROOKS, B. W., EHLMAN, S. M., MCCALLUM, E. S., SIH, A., SUNDIN, J., WONG, B. B. M. &

ARNOLD, K. E. (2013). Direct and indirect effects of chemical contaminants on the behaviour, ecology and evolution of wildlife. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 285, 20181297.

- SARMAJA-KORJONEN, K. (2003). Chydorid ephippia as indicators of environmental change – biostratigraphical evidence from two lakes in southern Finland. *Holocene* 13, 691–700.
- SCHMITZ, O. J. (2007). Predator diversity and trophic interactions. *Ecology* 88, 2415–2426.
- SCHMITZ, O. J., MILLER, J. R. B., TRAINOR, A. M. & ABRAHMS, B. (2017). Toward a community ecology of landscapes: predicting multiple predator–prey interactions across geographic space. *Ecology* 98, 2281–2292.
- SCHNURR, M. E., YIN, Y. & SCOTT, G. R. (2014). Temperature during embryonic development has persistent effects on metabolic enzymes in the muscle of zebrafish. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 217, 1370–1380.
- SCHWEIGER, O., BIESMEIJER, J. C., BOMMARCO, R., HICKLER, T., HULME, P. E., KLOTZ, S., KÜHN, I., MOORA, M., NIELSEN, A., OHLEMÜLLER, R., PETANIDOU, T., POTTS, S. G., PYSEK, P., STOUT, J. C., SYKES, M. T., *ET AL.* (2010). Multiple stressors on biotic interactions: how climate change and alien species interact to affect pollination. *Biological Reviews* 85, 777–795.
- SEARS, M. W., ANGILLETTA, M. J., SCHULER, M. S., BORCHERT, J., DILLIPLANE, K. F., STEGMAN, M., RUSCH, T. W. & MITCHELL, W. A. (2016). Configuration of the thermal landscape determines thermoregulatory performance of ectotherms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113, 10595–10600.
- SEEBACHER, F., WHITE, C. R. & FRANKLIN, C. E. (2015). Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 5, 61–66.
- SHANTZ, A. A., LADD, M. C., EZZAT, L., SCHMITT, R. J., HOLBROOK, S. J., SCHMELTZER, E., VEGA THURBER, R. & BURKEPILE, D. E. (2022). Positive interactions between corals and damselfish increase coral resistance to temperature stress. *Global Change Biology* 29(2), 417–431.
- SHEARS, N. T. & ROSS, P. M. (2010). Toxic cascades: multiple anthropogenic stressors have complex and unanticipated interactive effects on temperate reefs. *Ecology Letters* 13, 1149–1159.
- SHEPARD, E. L. C., WILSON, R. P., REES, W. G., GRUNDY, E., LAMBERTUCCI, S. A. & VOSPER, S. B. (2013). Energy landscapes shape animal movement ecology. *The American Naturalist* 182(3), 298–312.
- SIEVERS, M., HALE, R., SWEARER, S. E. & PARRIS, K. M. (2018). Contaminant mixtures interact to impair predator-avoidance behaviours and survival in a larval amphibian. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 161, 482–488.
- SIH, A. (1987). Predators and prey lifestyles: an evolutionary and ecological overview. In *Predation: Direct and Indirect Impacts on Aquatic Communities* (eds W. C. KERFOOT and A. SIH), pp. 203–224. University Press of New England, Hanover.
- SIH, A., BELL, A. M., JOHNSON, J. C. & ZIEMBA, R. E. (2004). Behavioral syndromes: an integrative overview. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 79, 241–277.
- SIH, A., COTE, J., EVANS, M., FOGARTY, S. & PRUITT, J. (2012). Ecological implications of behavioural syndromes. *Ecology Letters* 15, 278–289.
- SIH, A., ENGLUND, G. & WOOSTER, D. (1998). Emergent impacts of multiple predators on prey. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 13, 350-355.
- SINCLAIR, B. J., FERGUSON, L. V., SALEHIPOUR-SHIRAZI, G. & MACMILLAN, H. A. (2013). Cross-tolerance and cross-talk in the cold: relating low temperatures to desiccation and immune stress in insects. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 53, 545–556.
- SINERVO, B., MÉNDEZ-DE-LA-CRUZ, F., MILES, D. B., HEULIN, B., BASTIAANS, E., VILLAGRÁN-SANTA CRUZ, M., LARA-RESENDIZ, R., MARTÍNEZ-MÉNDEZ, N., CALDERÓN-ESPINOSA, M. L., MEZA-LÁZARO, R. N., GADSDEN, H., AVILA, L. J., MORANDO, M., DE LA RIVA, I. J., VICTORIANO SEPULVEDA, P., *ET AL.* (2010). Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science* 328, 894–899.
- SIVITER, H., BAILES, E. J., MARTIN, C. D., OLIVER, T. R., KORICHEVA, J., LEADBEATER, E. & BROWN, M. J. F. (2021). Agrochemicals interact synergistically to increase bee mortality. *Nature* 596, 389–392.
- SMIRNOV, N. N. (2014). The Physiology of Cladocera. Acadamic Press, Amsterdam.
- SNYDER, R. E. (2006). Multiple risk reduction mechanisms: can dormancy substitute for dispersal? *Ecology Letters* 9, 1106–1114.
- SOKOLOVA, I. (2021). Bioenergetics in environmental adaptation and stress tolerance of aquatic ectotherms: linking physiology and ecology in a multi-stressor landscape. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 224, jeb236802.
- SOKOLOVA, I. M. (2013). Energy-limited tolerance to stress as a conceptual framework to integrate the effects of multiple stressors. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 53, 597–608.
- SOKOLOVA, I. M., FREDERICH, M., BAGWE, R., LANNIG, G. & SUKHOTIN, A. (2012). Energy homeostasis as an integrative tool for assessing limits of environmental stress tolerance in aquatic invertebrates. *Marine Environmental Research* 79, 1–15.
- SOUSA, T., DOMINGOS, T., POGGIALE, J. C. & KOOIJMAN, S. (2010). Dynamic energy budget theory restores coherence in biology. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3413–3428.

- STEVENSON, R. D. (1985). The relative importance of behavioral and physiological adjustments controlling body temperature in terrestrial ectotherms. *The American Naturalist* **126**, 362–386.
- STOKS, R. (2001). Food stress and predator-induced stress shape developmental performance in a damselfly. *Oecologia* **127**, 222–229.
- SUNDAY, J. M., BATES, A. E., KEARNEY, M. R., COLWELL, R. K., DULVY, N. K., LONGINO, J. T. & HUEY, R. B. (2014). Thermal-safety margins and the necessity of thermoregulatory behavior across latitude and elevation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111, 5610–5615.
- SURACI, J. P., CLINCHY, M., ZANETTE, L. Y. & WILMERS, C. C. (2019). Fear of humans as apex predators has landscape-scale impacts from mountain lions to mice. *Ecology Letters* 22, 1578–1586.
- TALBOT, S. É., WIDDICOMBE, S., HAUTON, C. & BRUGGEMAN, J. (2019). Adapting the dynamic energy budget (DEB) approach to include non-continuous growth (moulting) and provide better predictions of biological performance in crustaceans. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 76, 192–205.
- THOMAS, D. W., DORAIS, M. & BERGERON, J. M. (1990). Winter energy budgets and cost of arousals for hibernating little brown bats, *Myotis lucifugus. Journal of Mammalogy* 71, 475–479.
- THOMPSON, P. L., MACLENNAN, M. M. & VINEBROOKE, R. D. (2018). Species interactions cause non-additive effects of multiple environmental stressors on communities. *Ecosphere* **9**(11), e02518.
- TODGHAM, A. E., SCHULTE, P. M. & IWAMA, G. K. (2005). Cross-tolerance in the tidepool sculpin: the role of heat shock proteins. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* **78**, 133–144.
- TOSI, S., NIEH, J. C., SGOLASTRA, F., CABBRI, R. & MEDRZYCKI, P. (2017). Neonicotinoid pesticides and nutritional stress synergistically reduce survival in honey bees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 284(1869), 20171711.
- TRAN, T. T., VAN, K. D., JANSSENS, L. & STOKS, R. (2020). The effect of warming on pesticide toxicity is reversed between developmental stages in the mosquito *Culex* pipiens. Science of the Total Environment 717(10), 134811.
- TRIMMER, P. C., EHLMAN, S. M., MCNAMARA, J. M. & SIH, A. (2017). The erroneous signals of detection theory. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 284, 20171852.
- TYLIANAKIS, J. M., DIDHAM, R. K., BASCOMPTE, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11, 1351–1363.
- VAN DE WAAL, D. B. & LITCHMAN, E. (2020). Multiple global change stressor effects on phytoplankton nutrient acquisition in a future ocean. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 375(8), 20190706.

- VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., MACEL, M. & VISSER, M. E. (2010). Predicting species distribution and abundance responses to climate change: why it is essential to include biotic interactions across trophic levels. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 2025–2034.
- VAN DER VINNE, V., TACHINARDI, P., RIEDE, S. J., AKKERMAN, J., SCHEEPE, J., DAAN, S. & HUT, R. A. (2019). Maximising survival by shifting the daily timing of activity. *Ecology Letters* 22, 2097–2102.
- VAN DIEVEL, M., JANSSENS, L. & STOKS, R. (2019). Additive bioenergetic responses to a pesticide and predation risk in an aquatic insect. Aquatic Toxicology 212, 205–213.
- VAN LEEUWEN, I. M. M., VERA, J. & WOLKENHAUER, O. (2010). Dynamic energy budget approaches for modelling organismal ageing. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 365, 3443–3454.
- VERHEYEN, J. & STOKS, R. (2020). Negative bioenergetic responses to pesticides in damselfly larvae are more likely when it is hotter and when temperatures fluctuate. *Chemosphere* 243, 125369.
- VETTER, R. A. H., FRANKE, H. D. & BULCHHOLZ, F. (1999). Habitat-related differences in the responses to oxygen deficiencies in *Idotea baltica* and *Idotea emarginata* (isopoda, Crustacea). *Journal of Marine Biology and Ecology* 239, 259–272.
- VINEBROOKE, R. D., COTTINGHAM, K. L., NORBERG, J., SCHEFFER, M., DODSON, S. I., MABERLY, S. C. & SOMMER, U. (2004). Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: the role of species co-tolerance. *Oikas* 104, 451–457.
- WATSON, S. A., ALLAN, B. J. M., MCQUEEN, D. E., NICOL, S., PARSONS, D. M., PETHER, S. M. J., POPE, S., SETIAWAN, A. N., SMITH, N., WILSON, C. & MUNDAY, P. L. (2018). Ocean warming has a greater effect than acidification on the early life history development and swimming performance of a large circumglobal pelagic fish. *Global Change Biology* 24, 4368–4385.
- WHITE, L., DONOHUE, I., EMMERSON, M. C. & O'CONNOR, N. E. (2018). Combined effects of warming and nutrients on marine communities are moderated by predators and vary across functional groups. *Global Change Biology* 24, 5853–5866.
- WINGFIELD, J. C. (2013). Ecological processes and the ecology of stress: the impacts of abiotic environmental factors. *Functional Ecology* 27, 37–44.
- WIRSING, A. J., HEITHAUS, M. R., BROWN, J. S., KOTLER, B. P. & SCHMITZ, O. J. (2021). The context dependence of non-consumptive predator effects. *Ecology Letters* 24, 113–129.
- ZAVORKA, L., KOECK, B., ARMSTRONG, T. A., SOGANCI, M., CRESPEL, A. & KILLEN, S. S. (2020). Reduced exploration capacity despite brain volume increase in warm-acclimated common minnow. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **223**(11), jeb223453.

(Received 20 May 2022; revised 18 March 2023; accepted 24 March 2023; published online 2 April 2023)